
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

AGENDA
Town of Hooksett Town Council

Wednesday, February 26, 2020 at 6:00 PM

A meeting of the Town Council will be held Wednesday, February 26, 2020 in the Hooksett Municipal Building

commencing at 6:00 PM.
Page

CALL TO ORDER

PROOF OF POSTING

ROLL CALL

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

AGENDA OVERVIEW

PUBLIC HEARINGS

SPECIAL RECOGNITION

7.1. Hooksett Youth Achiever of the Month

7.2. Hooksett Municipal Employee - New Hire

SCHEDULED APPOI NTMENTS

8.1. Todd Rainier, Town Clerk and Marc Miville, Town Moderator - February 1 1,

2020 Federal Primary Election Results & March 10,2020 Town/School/Special
General Election Preparations

8.2. Nicholas Williams, Town Planner and David Scarpetti, EDAC Chair: RSA
72:80-S3Commercial and lndustrial Construction Exemption (See ltem 15.1

staff Report - sR-20-025 - Pdf for details)

8.3. Appointment with Carrie Hyde, Chainuoman of the Hooksett Old Home Day
Committee

Staff Report - SR-20-028 - Pdf

CONSENT AGENDA

9.1. Motion to accept reimbursement not to exceed $3,150.00 from the State of
New Hampshire, Department of Safety,.to the Town of Hooksett for the
Hooksett Políce Department per RSA 31:91-b: lll(b) and return said funds to
the police departments budget.

Staff Report - SR-20-022 - Pdf

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT

PUBLIC INPUT. 15 MINUTES

NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS

BRIEF RECESS

OLD BUSINESS

Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services ls asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

I

3-5

9-15

7

9

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Page 1 of99



15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

15.3

15.4

NEW BUSINESS

15.1. RSA 72:80-83 Commercial and lndustrial Construction Exemption

Staff Report - SR-20-026 - Pdf

15.2. Town of Hooksett Town-wide Property Equalization Ratio

Staff Report - SR-20-027 - Pdf

Approval to utilize Police lmpact Fees for the purchase and installation of 6
Patrol PC Mobile Data Terminals (MDT's)

Staff Report - SR-20-023 - Pdf
Patrol PC

Solid Waste/Recycling & Transfer Ordinance 00-31 Amendment
Staff Report - SR-20-024 - Pdf
R&T Policy Oriqnal
Solid Waste Ordinance 00-31 Oriqinal
R&T Ordinance 00-31 w edits

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

16.1. Public: 02fi212020
TC Minutes 02122020

SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS

PUBLIC INPUT

NON-PUBLIC SESSION NH RSA 91-A:3 ll

ADJOURNMENT

PUBLIC INPUT
1. Two 15-minute Public lnput sessions will be allowed during each Council

Meeting. Time will be divided equally among those wishing to speak,
however,no person will be allowed to speak for more than 5 minutes.

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any íssue in any
meeting.Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal
or derogatory about any other person.

3. Any questions must be directly related to the topic being discussed and must
be addressed to the Chair only, who after consultation with Council and Town
Administrator, will determine if the question can be answered at that tíme.
Questions cannot be directed to an individual Councilor and must not be
personal in nature. lssues raised during Public lnput, which cannot be resolved

. or answered at that time, or which require additional discussion or research,
will be noted by the Town Administrator who will be responsible for researching
and responding to the comment directly during normalwork hours or by
bringing to the Councilfor discussion at a subsequent meeting. The Chair
reserves the right to end questioning if the questions depart from clarification to
deliberation.

4. Council members may request a comment be added to New Business at a
subsequent meeting.

5. No one may speak during Public lnput except the person acknowledged by the
Chair. Direct questions or comments from the audience are not permitted
during Public lnput.

Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

17-19

21

23-35
31-35 are
duplicates

37-85
63-85 are
duplicates

87-99

Page 2 of 99



Agenda ltem #8.2

Town Council

STAFF REPORT

To: Town Council

Nicholas Williams, Town Planner and David Scarpetti, EDAC Chair: RSA 72:80-83
Commercial and lndustrial Construction Exemption

Town Council - 26 Feb 2020

Community Development

Leann Fuller, Community Development Clerk

Title:

Meeting:

Department:
Staff Contact:

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
Currently, the State of New Hampshire allows municipalities to enact four (4) main statutory economic
development tools at the local government level. Under the S82 form of local government, the local
governing body (Town Council) is responsible for adopting these economic development incentives.
The Town of Hooksett has previously adopted three (3) of the four (4). These are listed below along
with a brief explanation of each:

1) RSA 162 - N: Economic Revitalization Zones

This offers short-term business tax credit for development projects which make capital improvements
to existing properties, or which create at least one full time job. Targeted areas must be blighted
areas; i.e. brownfield sites, underutilized structures, deteriorated or vacant structures, etc... and must
be identified by the municipality as an Economic Revitalization Zones. Applicants may receive a
business tax credit of up to $240,000 - $40,000 annually over the course of six (6) years if all criteria
are met. Currently, the Town has established six (6) of these zones, and since the Economic
Development Advisory Committee and Community Development have aggressively begun
advertising this incentive in 2018, there have been at least seven (7) successfulapplicants.

2) RSA 79-E: Communitv Revitalization Tax Relief lncentive

This offers property tax relief for substantial rehabilitation of qualifying structures - usually designated
by a municipality as being a downtown area or other central area of historic importance - by providing
a 5-year exemption on increased property values as a result of a rehabilitation or renovation project.
The goal is to incentivize the adaptive reuse of the existing building stock, revitalize blighted
downtown areas, and preserve historic structures. Currently, the Town has a designated zone - the
Village - in which properties are eligible for this exemption, however the incentive has not been
utilized to its full potential.

3) RSA 162-K: Tax lncrement Finance Districts

This provides a funding mechanism for new infrastructure by capturing property tax increases over
and above current property taxes once the infrastructure has incentivized further development within
a specified area. The 3A TIF and associated sewer/water infrastructure is currently the Town's most
substantial economic development initiative.

Page 3 of 99



The Town has ¡glenacted the fourth available incentive, which is explained below

RSA 72:80-83 - Commercial and lndustrial Construction Exemption

This incentives new construction in commercial zones, industrial zones, or both. Under advisement of
the Economic Development Advisory Committee, the Town Council may specify certain parcels of
land to which this exemption applies. The exemption includes up to 50% of the increased municipal
property tax as a result of new construction, or renovations/additions/improvements to existing
structures. The exemption may not exceed a period of 10 years from the date the application is
granted. The goal is to attract construction and generate jobs in commercial and/or industrial sectors
at short term reductions in property tax revenues, while potentially benefiting from new construction

FINANCIAL IMPACT:
On approved applications, the proposed action will result in short{erm reductions in property tax
revenue for the Town. Net gains/increases in property tax revenue are expected to occur beyond the
set time limitation of the exemption, which the Town Council will specify upon adoption. Specific
financial impact figures will be dependent largely on how much property is designated as eligible, if
these properties are able to successfully attract future development, and other variables specific to
each proposed construction project.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
The proposed action, if adopted, is required by state statute to remain in etfect for a period of five (5)
years. Once adopted, the specific exemption percentage and time limitations must uniformly be
granted to all applicants/proposed projects which meet the criteria.

RECOMMENDATION:
The proposed action is supported by the Economic Development Advisory Committee, but a
recommendation to adopt is not advised at this time. The specifics of adoption need to be vetted
through EDAC and the Planning Board, as adoption has various implications for land use. ltems to
consider include:

Which properties/zones will benefit from adoption? ls it practical to apply this incentive to
commercial and industrialzones across the board, or are there certain parcels which should be
targeted? Are there parcels that should be excluded?
It is qlrecommended that parcels which are part of the current 3A TIF be included in the
proposed action because it is counterproductive to the purpose of the TlF.
Are there vacant, readily developable parcels which may be targeted?

SUGGESTED MOTION:
Motion to request a formal proposalfrom the Economic Development Advisory Board, after
consultation with the Planning Board, which includes the following information:
1) Recommended zones/parcels to be targeted in the motion
2) Recommended percentage of tax relief for approved projects
3) Recommended time limitation of tax relief for approved projects

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION :

Concur

a

a

Agenda ltem #8.2.

Page 4 of 99



Agenda ltem #8.2.

Page 5 of 99



Page 6 of 99



Agenda ltem #8.3.

Town Council

STAFF REPORT

To:

Title

Meeting:

Department:
Staff Contact

Town Council

Appointment with Carrie Hyde, Chainvoman of the Hooksett Old Home Day
Committee

Town Council - 26 Feb 2020

Administration

Nick Germain, Project Coordinator

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
On February 17th, Ms. Carrie Hyde requested that Old Home Day be added to the February 26th
Agenda. Carrie currently stands as the Chairwoman of the Old Home Day Committee and takes a
major role in organizing the event's festivities.

At Council's last meeting with the Committee on September 25th, 2019, there was a vote to give an
additional $3000 towards covering event overages that occurred.

FINANCIAL IMPACT:
Unknown

POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
Unknown

RECOMMENDATION:
Hear any of the Old Home Day Committee members present speak.

SUGGESTED MOTION:
nla

I

Page 7 of 99



Page 8 of 99



Agenda ltem #9.1.

Town Council

STAFF REPORT

To:
Title

Meeting:
Department:

Staff Contact

Town Council

Motion to accept reimbursement not to exceed $3,150.00 from the State of New
Hampshire, Department of Safety, to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police
Department per RSA 31:91-b: lll(b) and return said funds to the police
departments budget.

Town Council - 26 Feb 2020

Police Department

Jake Robie, Captain

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
"The State of New Hampshire received funding under the federal 2019 Homeland Security Grant. As
part of this investment in public safety we are pursuing the goal of enhancing the ability of public
safety agencies to further build interoperable communications capabilities." The Hooksett Police
Department successfully completed the proper papenrvork for the radio reprograming grant
reimbursement initiative. Our radio maintenance vendor Ossipee Mountain Electronics will complete
the reprograming of the approved radios (see attached list of approved radios). The Hooksett Police
Department will be responsible to pay for the services and then we will submit for reimbursement
once the reprograming is complete. The reimbursement paperwork is on a first come, first served
basis with a submission deadline of July 1,2022. We have 63 approved radios and the total
estimated cost for the reprograming is $3,150.00.

FINANCIAL IMPACT:
We will have to pay for the services upfront before submit for reimbursement.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS
None

SUGGESTED MOTION:
Motion to accept reimbursement not to exceed $3,150.00 from the State of New Hampshire,
Department of Safety, to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:91-b
lll(b) and return said funds to the police departments budget.

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION:
Concur

ATTACHMENTS:
20200205082537053

Page 9 of 99



RODËRT L, QIJIhN
COIVIMISSIONER OF SAFETY

åtnte ot ^#eb TÍ)umpsUire

Agenda ltem #9.1.

RICHARDC. BATLEY, JR

I',[RJIY E. PLI.IMMER.

^8 
SIST^NT COMt\'f TSSt0NERS

DEPARTI{EHT OF SAFETY
Ja¡nes H, Hayes Safety tsuilding. 33 Hazen Drive. Concold, NH 03305

Tel: (603) 223-3889

,", lH"* 13;'^lî,n, lï,ff, Ïi'l, n.o

December 30,2019

Rick Belanger
Hooksett Police Dept
15 Legends Dr
Hooksett, NH 03106

Dear Rick Belanger,

We are pleased to inform you, on behaff of the Gommissioner of Safety, that you have successfully
comploted the eurvey and MOA process for the radio reprogramrning grant reirnbursernent initiativel
The Sfate of Nev¡ Hampshire received funding under the federal 2019 Homeland Security Grant.
As part of th¡s inveslment in public safety we are pursuing the goal of enhancing the ability of pub[ic
safety agencies to further buifd interoperable cornmunicatíons capabilities,

a

Each primary discipline (Fire, ËMS, and Police Department) of each New Harnpshire
municipalily as well as each Sheriff's Office and each of the Fire Mutuaf Aid Districts can
have one template ('one code" plug) in channels 1-48**. Recipients of the approval must
supply a list of up tô 48 licensed* local frequencies lo the vendor/reprogramrner of their
choice in advarrce. Jn-house reprogramrning or programrning that is currently part of a
maintenance conlract will not be reimbursed under this grant lo avoid the supplanting* of
locally funded activities with Fsdoral funds. .The Definitionolsupplanting on theGrantel0l pase, lhe Us
DOJ Ott¡ce Jlstice Frograms offers this detinition of .eupplantlng: "A stote or ur¡t of lo('a¡ government r€ducês staia or
ocal ft¡rt<Js í<rr an activily spsr:ific¿lly L¡eraus.e federal funis are availabfe (or expected to be avaifable) to fund t'ìat same
actiìnty, Whel Supplant¡ng ls not permlftcd, fcdcral furds ïust be used to supplement exist¡ng srdte or lornl funds for
;rograrn activities ard tray not replace state o'lccal fundsthat have been appropriated cr allocated fur the seme purpose.
Addltionally, federal funding'ìraynot replare stâteor loæl fundlrrg that Is rcqurcd bV law."

Per the program objectives: One lemplate ("code-pfug") per discipline will be Íncludecl lvith
this project".. Additionaf locally-directed custotnization beyond this vuill be al the cosúof llre
local agency( eee price lÍst on page 2 resulting fro¡r RFl released by NH Dept. of safety -
DESC)

""íl adCitialal lçn'rf)iote3 (ccde pfugs; are leeded lo be creåter due to manufecturer or rnode vefiallons.
ilsase c,Jritact Gl/lU ir wriiirrg a[ tlq¡¡gle11g-g14fÞ('j-çog.t¡=gq PRiOR to urrcieriahing rÊprcgrarnm¡ng a.ìd
cegcribe this need v'rrrh'¿our ,rendoi/reprogram¡ner a¡d rrovid€ l:ack-.rp for ûCNSlOERAT|0ll of th¡s adcilic,nat
'iÐ$t

The radio must be in work_ing con-d-ilioï as of the survey daie. P-?5 -c_gr:,noliant and diqitaU
analoq caþable, This grant is for reproqra.mni.nft and it is not for rep?.ir.jns, mo4.ifuinq, or
replacing r¡our exísting radios.

a

Page 10 of99



'

roimbursernents prior tp nrogram termi.nation (gtarJ-t 
-qnd noted herein). vou mav NO-_T_ GgeLyg

reimbursement. Thus it is recommended that you proceed rvith time horizon in mind.

As noted in your initial MOA & survey ihat you signed to participate in this program the
frequency matrix approved by the NH SIEC (for info. on the stater¡vide SlËC see
https;//www,nh.gov/firstneUÍnteroperabilityiindex.htm) MUST be programmed and maintained
hy your agency to be reimbursed by this program and be potentiatly eligible for future grants.
Now thatthe matrix has been adopled by ihe SIEC Radio Frequency Working Group, requests
for tho frequency matrix must be directed to Chief Jon Goldman, Chairman of the SIEC Radio
Frequency Working Group. He can be contacted by email at iqoldman@lrmfA.çß, or by phone
at 603"528-91 1 1. Your service shop/programrners should have access to the SIEC approved
matrix at this time.

lnform atÍo n follhÈreprogfamminq of the ra dios :

Your approved list of radio equiprnent is atúached, This list of eligible radios will need to
be signed off by your programming vendor when fhe r€progremming is conrpleted. lf you
have acquired additional inventory since the initial survey- you IUIUST nolify the Grants
Managernent Unit wilhin l0 days of the date of this letter to insure that these radios can
be address ed u nder th is pro g ra m ( Hç n ef andqrqqlgf0dos, n h.p oJ
or at 271-7663), lnv,ellorv chanqes MUST be commu.nigated and a.pproved i,n writinq,
príor Éo reÞroqrarnrnins.

As prcviously etated, if additional templates (code plugs) are nseded to be created due
to manufacturer or model variations, pleass contact GMU in writing at:
Homelandqrflnts@dos.nh.gov PRIOR to undertaking reprcgramming and describe thls
need with your vendorlreprogramrner and provide back-up for CONSIDERATION of this
additional cost. Final approval rnust be received in writing and thls ls going to be funded
on a first come, first served basis.

a

a

Agenda ltem #9.1.

O

a

NH Department of Safety-Divrsion of Emergency Comnrunications - Office of lnteroperability
released a request for inforrnation (RFl) in May 2019 to frame the potentíal eligible cosls for
reprogramrning that will be reimbursed. The following outlines costs that v¿illbe reinrbursed:

Rei¡nburssments q!11.þe as follows

ltêm Oescri Pricc
Subsc ribcr Progra mmlng -. I ncludes: $50.00/radio

. Code Plug Development; Channels 1-256 {Ch. t-48 + State Template r
lnteroperability Zone Hf

¡ Coonlinate 5ervice Appcintrncnt r¡/¡th Departrnent and verify a pproved radio
iisting.

. Program Dcportmeni Raclìos w,/updated code plug al pro8rammerþhop
facilÍty, Provide lnvoicing lor prograrnnring performed including a detûi¡ed

__- serial numbef l¡sti$ rammed..._

Page 2 of 6

Page 11 of99



2

3

4

5

Agenda ltem #9.1

Additional Channels

Channei prograniming above 1-48,/Slâte Ternpläte./ lnteroperab¡lity zonê H

(ZS0 channels -- must indicate reason why, in writing, with relrnbursernent
rcquest thÐt thcsc additional channcls arc ncedcd to bc rcimburscd pcr unit.
This rcqucst nray be de nied above 256 if deemed not necessary and directly
related to NH StEC goals to interoperable Statewíde conrrnunicatiorrs)

At the COST ef the íocal Deoartment - Not port of ø ørqnt Gímbursement
Extra Programming Featuresr

tustom Display Configuratiorts
Add/Change/Update MDC lD's

Adding Encryption
Vô¡ce/Chånnel a nnouncement
Code Plug'Scrub' (research/update frequency list)

Additional Tem plates/code Plugs

Custom Profiles

Administrative Code Plugs, etc.

At the COST of the locsl Department - Not oort of a srant reí¡nbursement
S€rvic€ Call Charge:

Travel to Customer's location for programnring servlces

At the COST of the locsl Depsrtment - Not part of ø qront rcímhursemcnt
Repair Service

Provìde repair services to radios deternrined tq be not operating within
Ma¡r ufacturer's Specificat ions p e r approval by Departme nt

NÖt to
exceed

$1.00/channel
(per radio).

Up to
585.00/hour
or Èhe

standard
ratë that
your tocaÌ
provider

charges if
lower

Frorn

5350 based

on Customer

location or
' t he ,r:ate th at
j your local

iprovider
, charges lf
lower

r ú'pl;
$85.00/hour
+ parts or
t he ,rate t h at
your local
provider

, charges if
lower

A) Departments can have one code plug for channels 1-48 Departments must supply a líst of
1-48 licensed frequencies 10 the service shop/provider of choice praor to programming
appointments. Channels above 48 (nol including the State Template and lnterop Zone H)
tvill be additional (see ltem 2). **rf ãdcii:¡on€l tem¡-rl¡-1es1¿o4e Êlrrgs) are needed to be create: due tc)

man¡rFoctu¡cr or noccl va'iatíoris, p¡cas¡ conlart GMU in t'o,rí:ing at Homelandgrants@dcJÊ.¡h,cpv ÞRIOR to
urtclerla!.irrg recrograrn:-riitg an(l dsscrÞe this need witl' ycut verlclo:ireprogr?iti'ÍTÌer arr<1 prcvrrie !.rac<-Lrp fcr
CON,q¡DERATION of lhis arfclitírr¡:al cr"¡st

B) Any special¡zed programming (encryplion, accessories modifications, specially signaling,
etc.) witl be the responsibility of your agency. (see: lfem 3, 4, 5 not grant reirnbursable),

Ci Only the radios identified on your survey sheet(s) ísee attached) wifl be eligÍbfe for
reprogramming at this time. Radios must be in working condition, rnust be P-25 compliant,

Page 3 of 6

Page 12 of 99



and g!.þ digital oapable. This grant is for reprogramming only. ll is æ! for repairing
existing radios.

D) RËMEMBER: you must be licensed and/or have permission to use a frequency! License
fees and changes are not grant reimbursable. ***

Procgss fq r the lmplen:lqn-tati on :

EI YOU must hâve thè attâched reimbursernent rcquesUverification sheet and the enciosed serial
number list signed off by your vendor and submitted to GMU along with copies of invoices and
cancelled checks.

Ef The SHOP will verify the serial numbers of all radios they reprogrammed. YOU +q+ keep a
copy of those senal numbers for auditing purposes. Please note: YOU {vour authorized
gfficlal to handfe this prooramminq portion of the transaction) and !h? VeIdor must both
sign off on these serial numbers as having been reprogrammed. This list (vrith signatures) must
be provided to GMU as part of your leimbursement request package.

EI ln order to qualify for funding reirnbursement, all users of these radios must compJete an online
conrnrunicatior¡s iraining and certif¡cation of completion mu6t be eubmltted wi{h
reimbu rsement rcquests.

-The link to where the exísting NH DOS Fire Standards and Training and EMS Division's Radio
course is located in the FS&T/EMS on line traíning portal system- ft is called, "Fire Servìce
Communications,
https :/lol a. nhfa-"enls.c.pm/course/index, php?ç3te-ggy!d:= 14

-The link to where the Nt-l Police Standa¡ds and 
'Training Department's Radio course tjtled

''lnteioperability for Law Enforcer,nent "is located is at:
httti.iiins.gfvþe. ostc.n h qovff 'a i ningi lpgijllinde¡.0 nÞ

EI This grant funding is available until August al 2022. Funtling is availabfe on a first come first
served basis as outlined in this letter All relmbursêmant requeats with all required
documentation must be submitted to NH Department of Safety, Att: Grants Menagement
Unit, 33 Hazen Drive, Concord, NH 03305 by July 1, 2022 for payment processing
timeliness.

"'Local,Agency ¡dare lqjålly responsible to insuro lhe licensed frcqusrcies xÊ actrurãta ¡nl r.rÐ-io-delÈ bâsed ôn FCC rèquirements

Sincerely,

P a n/LeLA 

^Yb 
A w- Ì,A o ú,w

Pamela Urban-Morin
Granl Adnrinistrator

Allachtrrcrú; Survey swnntary of approvcd rodios to be reprogran¡med (see peges 2-4 for tilsttuctlbns/

s \Commlss¡oner\GranlB|\Sf aredlHomêla[d ?01g\Radio Loöal Programmrng\Award Letter [or r€orogrsñming ol radios.doc12l2.712019

Page 4 of 6

Agenda ltem #9.1.

Page 13 of99



Agenda ltem #9.1

DF.PARl'l\4þl\l'l' 03 SAl"h i Y
Itadio llc¡rtg;'ammirg f.ìriint lrLlñd RcimhìtÍgrrncltt Requesl

MUNICIPALITYiENTITY: Hooksett Police

Vendor CeÉifícation:

I certify ll'a1 ull ruclios t¡n ll¡e altaclred approved surv
(.nsert ú?te). I underÊtard that any

date matrix apìlrcved by the f\ts| tìlËC

Tota! Amount ßêguestedl

ey have been reprcgra"ntnsd according to t'ìe most current rnatrix oþtainei 0ri
futurê reprogramming forthosô rãdìos must be compietec u9¡ng the rnosl up !o

\,tan¡tnr ôn¡rrrqnu ñanro

Mun¡clÞqlrFÌtlty Cert¡f¡cat¡ôn (pleasê ¡n¡tial each fequiremant be¡owì:

_ I ceÍlfy that all ¡'cpfogramm¡ng fof all ¡adios being rnvoiced has been completec as ol the date ol lhis cerli{icaf on

_ I have ållåched a copy of tl;e verlrl<¡ ilvoice,

- 
I hûve atlachod a copy of thc Gl/U approvcd sun êy w¡lh râd¡o senal numbers

_ I have altâthed a copy ofthe cancelled check showing payrrlerrt to tlte ventlor.

_ I cert¡fy that onty :he rnils oo thê âpploved suryey for rïy ¡¡¡ic,lpality/en'l¡ty have been reprôgramnred enrl lhâl no olhèr expen.se,c
are included in this request (includiñg ädcit¡onal radios, racJio repa¡r âclditiônâl programrning, elc)

I cartifu that all enlplcyêts thel w tl use theçe ¡¿{loÊ hâve completed the orl ne communic¡tions trâin¡ng denl¡f¡ed on Þage 4.

-f 

ôf râdiösxcostperun¡t(rad¡o/mobile/hase)$_ (ltilax$50oerradio)-_ Tofal radioreJ:rogranrmirrgcost

I am seeking reimbursement for costs incurred as described aþove. Documentation will be reiained at the
It/unicipal/Agency level ând be availãble for Stâte review ând w¡ll be retâined for three years. I further ceriify
that tnese costs are an ¿rccurale record incurred Jor redio reprogramming côsts under the 2019 Homeland
Security grant radio reprogramming initiâtive, I undersland thai all funding ¡s subject to the Homelancl Security
Grant Program Terms and Cond¡iions v¡hich arÊ located al:
https.//www. o.hg.gg_v/.sii€s, default/T¡ es/pu
17-2rr19 0 pdf

sincerely' 
Remittãnc€ Narne and AcJc¡ess;

9ignaiure Municrpal oflicral aulhorzed to sign

Prir¡l r¡¿rne arll ¡rhono numbur

E¡lrail address

Page 5 of 6

Page 14 of99



MobÌles
Serlal#'s

552cpxU'J46

4TlcsxlL4}
527csrn2046

527curn0046

Consolette
Seríal fl's

Agenda ltem #9.1.

DEPARTMENT OIì SAFF.TY
Radio Rep:oglarrrntírrg Grunl Fu¡rd lì.cirnh:rrem:nt Recuest

Su¡vev of ApÞrovod Radios {Seri¿l Numbersl*Prior approval f¡om GMU muBl be madê for âny adjugtments to th¡s list

Portâb¡es
Seríal#'s

mL225

655cn¿2984

655cnm 12 17

32Oc{c1773

32Octrn3280

32Ocej2445

37Ar

32Dce17019

320ce17020

_¡z!s_!/Qra
320cfm 19?9

Portables
Serfals's

t

Base

Statlon
Serial#'s

32ûcei7012

6-.!

65 I
2

32rc,c'1m3279

320ce17031

320ce17O33

32Oce17036

320ce17035

43

655cn23030

655cnm1223

555cnm1218

655c nnr 1221

36 527esm2045

652cpxü048

527cs20438

7652

655cnm 1220

655cnm 1219

2446

320cc17023

3ZOce17024

320ce170J.8

320ce17025

SZOcelTû2É;

32Ûce17O22

320ce17030

32Ocel7O27

3 s78

s85cgh33tis

41.2ctff0644

x0055

32 362

302cei7û29

32oce1702:t

655cnm12l_4

655cnm1215

7

32Ocfh2188

Page 6 of 6

Page 15 of 99



Page 16 of99



Agenda ltem #15.1

Town Council

STAFF REPORT

To:
Title:
Meeting:

Department:
Staff Contact:

Town Council

RSA 72:80-83 Commercial and lndustrial Construction Exemption

Town Council - 26 Feb 2020

Community Development

Leann Fuller, Community Development Clerk

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
Currently, the State of New Hampshire allows municipalities to enact four (4) main statutory economic
development tools at the local government level. Under the S82 form of local government, the local
governing body (Town Council) is responsible for adopting these economic development incentives.
The Town of Hooksett has previously adopted three (3) of the four (4). These are listed below along
with a brief explanation of each:

1) RSA 162 - N: Economic Revitalization Zones

This offers short-term business tax credit for development projects which make capital improvements
to existing properties, or which create at least one full time job. Targeted areas must be blighted
areas; i.e. brownfield sites, underutilized structures, deteriorated or vacant structures, etc... and must
be identified by the municipality as an Economic Revitalization Zones. Applicants may receive a
business tax credit of up to $240,000 - $40,000 annually over the course of six (6) years if all criteria
are met. Currently, the Town has established six (6) of these zones, and since the Economic
Development Advisory Committee and Community Development have aggressively begun
advertising this incentive in 20'18, there have been at least seven (7) successful applicants.

2) RSA 79-E: Communitv Revitalization Tax Relief lncentive

This offers property tax relief for substantial rehabilitation of qualifying structures - usually designated
by a municipality as being a downtown arca ü other central area of historic importance - by providing
a S-year exemption on increased property values as a result of a rehabilitation or renovation project.
The goal is to incentivize the adaptive reuse of the existing building stock, revitalize blighted
downtown areas, and preserve historic structures. Currently, the Town has a designated zone - the
Village - in which properties are eligible for this exemption, however the incentive has not been
utilized to its full potential.

3) RSA 162-K: Tax lncrement Finance Districts

This provides a funding mechanism for new infrastructure by capturing property tax increases over
and above current property taxes once the infrastructure has incentivized further development within
a specified area. The 3A TIF and associated sewer/water infrastructure is currently the Town's most
substantial economic development initiative.

Page 17 of99



Agenda ltem #15.1

The Town has notenacted the fourth available incentive, which is explained below

RSA 72:80-83 - Commercial and lndustrial Gonstruction Exemption

This incentives new construction in commercial zones, industrial zones, or both. Under advisement of
the Economic Development Advisory Committee, the Town Council may specify certain parcels of
land to which this exemption applies. The exemption includes up to 50% of the increased municipal
property tax as a result of new construction, or renovations/additions/improvements to existing
structures. The exemption may not exceed a period of 10 years from the date the application is
granted. The goal is to attract construction and generate jobs in commercial and/or industrial sectors
at short term reductions in property tax revenues, while potentially benefitting from new construction
in the long term in terms of net gains/increases in property tax revenue and employment.

FINANCIAL IMPACT:
On approved applications, the proposed action will result in short-term reductions in property tax
revenue for the Town. Net gains/increases in property tax revenue are expected to occur beyond the
set time limitation of the exemption, which the Town Council will specify upon adoption. Specific
financial impact figures will be dependent largely on how much property is designated as eligible, if
these properties are able to successfully attract future development, and other variables specific to
each proposed construction project.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
The proposed action, if adopted, is required by state statute to remain in effect for a period of five (5)
years. Once adopted, the specific exemption percentage and time limitations must uniformly be
granted to all applicants/proposed projects which meet the criteria.

RECOMMENDATION:
The proposed action is supported by the Economic Development Advisory Committee, but a
recommendation to adopt is not advised at this time. The specifics of adoption need to be vetted
through EDAC and the Planning Board, as adoption has various implications for land use. ltems to
consider include:

Which properties/zones will benefit from adoption? ls it practical to apply this incentive to
commercial and industrial zones across the board, or are there certain parcels which should be
targeted? Are there parcels that should be excluded?
It is plrecommended that parcels which are part of the current 3A TIF be included in the
proposed action because it is counterproductive to the purpose of the TlF.
Are there vacant, readily developable parcels which may be targeted?

SUGGESTED MOTION:
Motion to request a formal proposal from the Economic Development Advisory Board, after
consultation with the Planning Board, which includes the following information:
1) Recommended zones/parcels to be targeted in the motion
2) Recommended percentage of tax relief for approved projects
3) Recommended time limitation of tax relief for approved projects

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION:
Concur

a

a

Page 18 of99



Agenda ltem #15.1.

Page 19 of99



Page 20 of 99



Agenda ltem #15.2.

Town Council

STAFF REPORT

To:
Title:
Meeting:

Department:
Staff Contact:

Town Council

Town of Hooksett Town-wide Property Equalization Ratio

Town Council - 26 F eb 2020

Administration

Don na Fitzpatrick, Admi n istrative Services Coordinator

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
The State of NH Department of Revenue Administration (DRA) mandate that the State of NH
equalization ratio be 90-110%. Hooksett's current ratio is 90.80%. An equalization ratio is the
relationship between an assessed value and the sale price of any type of property in Hooksett.

Hooksett Assessor Jon Duhamel will present past Hooksett trends and a plan of action going forurard
for compliance with the state mandated ratio.

FINANCIAL IMPACT:
To be determined.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS
To be determined.

REGOMMENDATION:
Listen to Assessor Duhamel's presentation and have a Q&A session

SUGGESTED MOTION:
No motion needed at this time.

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION :

Receive update from the Assessing Director on Equalization matter

Page 21 of 99



Page 22 of 99



Agenda ltem #15.3

Town Council

STAFF REPORT

To:

Title

Meeting:

Department:
Staff Contact:

Janet Bouchard - Police Chief

Approval to utilize Police lmpact Fees for the purchase and installation of 6 Patrol
PC Mobile Data Terminals (MDT's)

Town Council - 26 F eb 2020

Police Department

Janet Bouchard, Police Chief

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
We currently have 8 Patrol PC MDT's. 6 of the units are outdated, failing or in need of repair. Please
see the attached memo from Dispatch Supervisor Belanger which outlines the history of the units. We
believe that is in appropriate use of impact fees since the new units will use updated technology to
accommodate growth in the Town. The units will be Windows 10 based which will carry more memory
space, which we are finding necessary due to the inputting and storing new business and resident
information. The new units will also have an lcoreT processor. That attached quotes are from Patrol
PC for the price of the units, which is $28,464.00. We will receive a $1,200.00 trade in credit for the
old units. Shipping is $294.39 bringing the total of the units to $27,558.39. Patrol PC is a sole source
provider for this type of computer. By replacing the units with the same brand we are able to reuse
the mounting brackets and cords that are already installed in all of the cruisers. The price to install the
units is $5,396.50 provided by Ossipee Mountain Electronics, lnc. They provide State Bid pricing.

I have conferred with the Town's attorney, Matthew Serge and he stated "Because development
growth does contribute to the need for the updated MDT's, I think there is a good argument that they
could be purchased with impact fees."

FINANCIAL IMPACT:

$32,954.89 to be taken from the Police lmpact Fee Special Revenue Fund which currently has a
balance of $59,542.43

RECOMMENDATION:
Motion to authorize the purchase of 6 Mobile Data Terminals from Patrol PC in the amount of
$27,558.39 as well as the installation of the units, including parts and labor from Ossipee Mountain
Electronics, lnc in the amount of $5,396.50 for a total amount of $32,954.89 to be taken from the
Police lmpact Fee Fund.

SUGGESTED MOTION:
Motion to authorize the purchase of 6 Mobile Data Terminals from Patrol PC in the amount of
$27,558.39 as well as the installation of the units, including parts and labor from Ossipee Mountain
Electronics, lnc in the amount of $5,396.50 for a total amount of $32,954.89 to be taken from the
Police lmpact Fee Fund.

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION:
Concur

Page 23 of 99



ATTACHMENTS:
Patrol PC

Agenda ltem #15.3.

Page 24 of 99



Agenda ltem #15.3

MEMORANDUM

Hooksett Police Deparlmenl
15 Legends Drive

Hooksett, NH 03106

Merno

TO: thief J. Bouchard
FROIT¡!: DlÊpâtch Supervieor R Belanger
DATË: February 6, 2020
RË: Patrol PC Rep¡âcemênt

Chief tsouchard,

After doing some research and testing, I am making the following recommendations
for the replacement of 6 out of our I Patrol PC MDT's.

Currently of the I Patrol PC MDT's that we have, 3 of lhem are in failure and need
replacement. I of them has already been repaired by Block 5 under our contract with them,
and the repair lasted less than 1 week. lt was recommended by Block 5 that we don't spend
any further time or fesources on them due to their age and erÕr code 7 r¡'¡hich was
determined to be an issue in the mother board. These 3 MDT's were all purchased in 20't3,

Two other Patrol PC MDT's that v.rere purchased at the same time in 2013 have issues
as well. One of them has a License Scanner that has stopped working and has a USB Port
broken on the molher board. The olher one has a broken USB Port and is having issues with
the display screen.

The remaining Patrol PC MDT was purchased in 2015. This one is having íssues with
connectivity and speed. The connectivity issue will be corrected with the new modem sst up,
The speed issue is due to the age of the computer and size of the Intel Core Processor. The
new Patrol PC MDT has the fasler lntel Core 17 Processor

The cost for one Patrol PC MDT is $4,490,00. They are also offering us a trade in for
the 6 older Patrol PC MDT of S200,00 per unil.

The total cost to replace the 6 Patrol PC MDT's before shipping cost is $28,464.00.
Then we would get a $1,200.00 discount for trading in the old 6 Patrol PC MDT's, which will
bring the total cosl down to $27,264.00. The shipping cost is $294.39.

As pad of this projec{, I would also like to fix our connectivity lssues with Verizon
Wireless at the same time. Currently Verizon Wireless supplies us with air cards that are

Page 25 of 99



working on the 4G network. Once the new 5G network is complete Verizon will no longer be
supporting the ai¡ card system for wireless connectivily. They are going to be pushing the hot
spût system from cell phones. Currently the Patrol PC MDT'$ don't have a wireless set up for
this.

Over the lasl year and a half I have tested several options for the rvireless connection
The best solution I have found was to go to a remote modem syslem that would be inslalled
in the cruisers. Currently we have 2 of the rnodems in operation. One with an inside antenna
system and one with an external antenna systern. The one with the externalantenna system
works flawlessly and has very little issues with coverage, The one with the inside antenn¿r
system has quite a few areas ín town with coverage ìssues, I believe if we add an exlernal
antenna to this modem, it will ha'¡e the same resulls as the other modem u¡ith the exfernal
antenna.

The cost to purchase and install all of the equípment necessâry is $5,396.50. This
installation witl take plåce at the police deparlment. This estimate wâs provided by Ossipee
Mountain Electronics.

The total cost for this project would be $32,954.89.

I )isi:ntch Supervisor

Agenda ltem #15.3.

Page 26 of 99



Quote
Dåte

Page

CTTEOIZI04

tol21/24ß
lofl

Agenda ltem #15.3.

Ossipee Mountñifr Electronics, Ine.

Cr¡rtr¡t{rr No 5aterpr rsoa ShlpPlrg Me(hcd Peynent Tcrms

lioo460 Br¡aí Vast¡ ne INsTAI.L Nê( l0

osllÞee Mounlain Ele,ctron¡cs, hc. PO Eox 950 832 Whittier Highway Moultonborq NH 03254
TEL¡ (6O3) 476-5581 Toll Free: l80O) 639-5081 Fax: (603) 476-5587

\,r/ww-omes bs.com

Hoô*ser( Pol¡ce Dêpt
I 5 Legends Dr.
Hc¡q&sett, NH 03 1 06

l-looks€tt Police 0cÞt
Attn: Chlêf Jån€r Eouchard
l5 Leqeods Dr.
Hool(e€rr NH oJl06

fle{¿r: n1 ¡. r il Ë!r Þrlcê

1

2

3

5

6

5.00
5.00
6,ôO

r.00
I

2

¡ r 01052
TRD85 5 8LK-I 4
.AP.CCt.q-S¡ 22-Br
MlSC-
LABOR
scz-l

Celi ul ar Catqwzy, ÎV5 0X, EthernetÆer¡al/USB,ICtS
Cable, CtT5 Strarìded 8leck. l4 Foot
Antenna, MIMO LTEÆe|I/FC5,/CP5 rhrcadcd ull. 5MA
Wirç,yÌ,¡re tie5. lusej, fuse l"o¡dcrs, loo¡1r, €tc,
I AßOR

serv¡c€ Cåll Zons 3

st9.0ó
8.80

I8t ,25
60.00

9{i0,00
ì 50,00

2,945.0{r
44,0o

ì,08/.50
6d.00

960,00
300.00

Quoted By: Accêrrted By: Date: 

-

PR¡CE QUOTE COOD FOR 30 DAYS
OCLIVERY: 30 DAYS ARO
TER}Is. NFT TO DAYS
FO8

s,396 SC

0.00
0.00

5,196.50

Page 27 of 99



Agenda ltem #15.3.

ESr46()5

E-ffi ESTIMATE
f Esl "3605

P¡lrol PC
34{ John L Oiel*h Dorlêyård, unil r,t2
Norlh Atll€lÐrû, MA, t lS rlÊ7t3
(508) q99 0{59

Esrlmetô Det6: ¿O?C"0?.06
E¡p¡¡y Oater2t¡20-04.06
Sale Agenl: l-lyan Oarofam

Blll lo
Ì1H - l'loohsell lt
15 t._.ûenrls Dr

Hûoks€t, NH. US.03106

Shlp To
NH - Flooks€r. Pü
15 Leæds Dr
llooksê|, Nl.l¡ US, C3t0ô

f nH-M1

tùo ||ertsoard: l\,lts.l7.tlH.M I

oForållDg Syrlêm: OS.WlOENTil.nH.[fl

orclrt: ovtsfil 
^Y.S-RH-M 

I

àooin"r' rec¡ù.¡r-t-li i

Mhùr û [t lr ?.1'g!úOr: kaôiþlrg UÈp6f - r¿001üt S¡¡ Prof*lÐd
CeFdlb fcr.hScrm lt¡¡âl 0¡ü{y, ¡nu¡t Uont Seir, Wi:r üsit.l1
2.{6G¡l¡É€N¡^C r ¡hnletn, Cpf, F.,ôû âMP (þmm. q.tút¡p ùF^tlvr,
F¡ãr¡Csl {tl¡lt.i UsoÉhu6, tÈræ€FdtÉn}

3,fgg.o0 aì 1s,194.00

vùrleyc ll4. hle|uro lrr56rþlJ Rûe6il l¿.ic{¿r âJH1. ¡uÊ cæh,

..-'?-ï9-":lll-ll-T Tfl 3-1Ysl s-*T: i T':þl:rl ø :i::" !f{ 9'0) .
FÂM: F^tut{Gn.D:IBG

ü"rJilui, siö.¿.rcce-Ms¡r¡

Eôb lJuti¿.r ürr h/tM

2l0tiÉ ruAtA 8(iÐ.æËtn

c.00

?.0q

6 0.00

0.00

WirrrJrru l0 l uT E rlcrprír ô,1 9[ qÐdí ¡ð Sr3Icþ la fll lJ l sr Ct3li<æc.

SÞl¡d Fl{ñol S fih¡cl fn,f ry eælr6a

høollmtle¡ll¡ Ê:rræ'

t Yèu th¡'roT¡ù Cantülsltd/¿ìyír{UolO¡ìftl

i:?s-1--t9
0.0c

!,lf 199
c.00

Rrlû.fth Vúr kk {l Intlûfv C Elftmrl, { (lÊC a.n,1 FF Pre'lhf u, ?Ftlt
ls El|ilRlPqcrCÐ¡d û |{ rllkr 3(r¡c)

493.00 6 2,994.û0

Warñntyr WRNT.3YR.F+Ml

2 FD.V.I

Fowr Cãblai CBL-PrilJF-6FT-NO

wû¡mly: ltftNT-3Yll. R).v- I

s Fl h¡ó8t rowr c4þ

I Yår nhliôïô0Ék W¡rqnv$!.V.1 Dooft O¡T)

4,n0 6

1r.00 6

r,nô

t.níì

3 KBD.TG3.ELT.X3816 R.Ð0{kUl <âFxlird-
Kel&.d\úh lodsôJ/
ErT.ffirua.Èkcl

TGi¡ kFÁ-31--Xl*rS8?kfi¡r kdllkred
Cil dkd - 3 Yr fi{ú¡{dr.dc Srrr9,(KgÈ

25ù,00 6 1,55{.00

Will a mâlchlng purchese order be lssued lor lhis order?

When will vehicfer bc av¿ilablo lor ltìstüllatloh?

Þrlñlâ.1Nâñê:

nûnk:

Dâte of AlrptovÊfi

Yttt NO

Sub Total

Shlpplng Coêt

AdfustmcÍt

Tot¿!

28,164.00

294..19

-1,20û,00

27,558.3S

Sitnalure ol Approval

Noles:

E5T.360'f ttz

Page 28 of 99



ES ( -3005

Discount is forTrâde-in tablelsr

1) ci-l 1 13-0848 Pur¿illnscxl 11151201:t

2) ci-1113"0849 Purchased 111512113

3) ci-1113-0850 Putchasedll/5/20.l3

4J ci-11 19-0851 Purchasccl I 1i5l2013

5) ci-11 13"0852 Purchased I f/12013

6l cig3"i I i5-1339 PurchaseC I i/I8/2015

Ternrs & Condlllone:

Unpaid balanceÊ accrue 1.5% iÌtteresl pet rnonlh

Agenda ltem #15.3.

FsT-1\.1!1

Page 29 of 99



Page 30 of 99



Agenda ltem #15.3.

MEMORANDUM

Hooksett Police Deparlmenl
15 Legends Drive

Hooksett, NH 03106

Memo

TO: Chief J. Bouchard
FROIÙ|: Dlspatch Supervisor R Belanger
DATÉ: February 8,2020
RË: Patrol PC Replecêmont

Chief tsouchard,

After doing some reseârch and test¡ng, I am makÍng the following recommendations
for the replacement of 6 out of our I Patrol PC MDT's,

Currently of the I Patrol PC MDT's that we have, 3 of thern are in failure and need
replacement. I of them has already been repaired by Btock 5 under our contract with them,
and the repair lasted less lhan 1 week. lt was recommended by Block 5 thal we don'l spend
any further time or resources on them due to their age and enor code 7 v'¡hich was
deterrnined to be an issue in the mother board. These 3 MDT's wsre all purchâsed in 2013,

Two other Patrol PC MDT's lhat v,rere purchased at the same time in 2013 have issues
as well. One of them has a License Scanner that has stopped working and has a U$B Porl
broken on the molher board. The olher one has a broken USE Port and is having issues with
the dfspfay screen.

The remaining Patrol PC MDT was purchased in 2015. This ono is having issues w¡th
connectivity and speed. The connectivity issue will be corrected wÍth üre new modem set up.
The speed issue is due lo the age of the computer and size of the lntel Core Processor. The
new Patrol PC MDT has the fasler lntel Core 17 Processot.

The cost for one Patrol PC MDT is $4,490,00 They are also offering us a trade in for
the 6 older Patrol PC MDT of $200.00 per unil.

The total cost to replace lhe 6 Patrol PC MDT's before shipping cost rs $28,464.00.
Then we would get a $1,200.00 discount for trading in the old 6 Patrol FC MDT's, which will
bring the total cosl down to $27,264 00. The shipping cost is $294.39.

As pafi of this project, I would also like to f¡x our connectivity issues with Verizon
Wireless at the same time. Currently Verizon Wireless supplies us with air cards that are

Page 31 of99



work¡ng on the 4G network. Once the new 5G network is complete, Verizon will no longer be
supportíng the air card system for wireless oonnectivily. They are going to be pushing the hot
spol system from cell phônès. currently the Petrol PÇ MDT's don't have a wireless set up for
this.

Over the lasl year and a half I have tested several options for the rvireless eonnection
The best solution I have found was to go to a remote mcdem syslem that would be installed
in the cruisers. Currently we have 2 of the modems in operation. One with an inside antenna
system and one with an external antenna systern. The one with the externalantenna system
works flawlessly and has very little issues with coverage. The one with the inside antênnâ
system has quite a fev,¡ areas in town with coverage issues, I believe if we add an exlernal
antenna to this modem, it will ha'¡e the same resulls as the other modem u¡ith the external
ântenna.

The cosl to purchase and ínstall all of the equipment necessâry is $5,396.50. This
installation will take place at the police depaHment. This estimate was provided by Ossipee
Mountain Electronics,

The total cost for this project would be $32,954.89.

IJisiratch Supewisor

Agenda ltem #15.3.

Page 32 of 99



Quote
Date

Page

QTE0Ì 2l 04
taftl/24ß
I of I

Agenda ltem #15.3.

Ossipee MountûÍn tslectronics, Inc.

ots¡pee Mountain Electron¡cs, lnc. PO Box 950 832 Whittier
TEL: (603) 476-5581 Toll Frèe: l80O) 639-5081

www-omesbs-com

.:...ì: j ii,l,! : ì::,rl jt;., ii:.,1 J:.:..,j.$hip.T. O .. ::; :::: , ,: .:i:::;.r:-,jil:,rji¡:i,.., . r

llooks€Ît Police Deph
A$ni Chlêf Jån€r 8oüchard
¡5l"egeods Dr.
Hooi(s€$ NH ol I06

Highway Moultonboro, NH 03254
Fex: (603t 476-5587

Hôo*sert policè Dept
I 5 Legends Dr,
Hc,u¡(selt, NH 03 106

C¡rrtt¡lntr No- S¡tespe r¡o¡ Shlpplng Merhcd PeyrÉnr Iårns

Itañ

HOO460 Br¡añ Vast¡ne INSTAI.L Ner:10

I
2

3

6

5,00
5.00
6.ôû

I r 0305¿
TRD8558LK-I 4
ÂP,CCt.q.s?22-Bt
M|SC.
tASOR

scz-3

Celiul¡r lv5 0X, Ethernet^€rial/USB,/CPs
Cabl€, CAT5 Str¿rrded 8la€k. l4 Foot
Anren na, MIMO LTE/Ce|I/FC5/GP5 rhrcadcd Ult. 5MA
wire,wiretie5. tuses, luse l'oldcrs, loom, ett.
I,ÄEOR

Ssrv¡c€ CalI Zone J

8.80
'I 8t,25
60.00

960,00
t 50.00

2,q45.00
.l4.oo

'r ,087,50
6û.00

960.00
300.00

{¡úoted Byi Accêpted ßy: Dateì 

-

PRICE QUOTE COOD FOft 3O DAYS
DÊLIVERY: 30 DÁYS ARO
TERI¡|S; NEI 10 DAYS
FO8

_. s,396 SC

0.00
0. o0

57õãiä'

Page 33 of 99



Agenda ltem #15.3.

ESr-3605

E-ffi ESTIMATE
f Ês I -3ô05

Pnltol F0
34{ John L Oi¿lsctr ûoríêvârd, UnlI r ¡[2
Nôrlh A¡ll6tñro, þ14, liS ttÊ763

{ù08) ö99 0{5S

EsÌlmetâ Þatê: ¿ogc.0?.oE
Erp¡¡y Dül{: 2U20-04.0tù
Sale Agenl: llyan Garofam

F$ ïo
ù1H - FÌ¡ohsell ¡û
15 L.sgenls Dr

Nookset. NH. US. 0Í1 1 06

shlp To
NH - lloskæt Fi.l
lE LeærKIs Dr
1lôoksÊt, Nl.l¡ US, c310ô

1 nH-Mi Mhùf & fi (12,1'$dfþ: Rôißuc UÈpÉt - l¿0¡l ltll5h PrulrrlN
rl¡Fdtw farch Scrq t{s¡d B ü.rt, ÂnH¡t üont S.¡ã,lrtir üS?,11
2.45GFl!æñ.re i ¡lnïdh, CPs) Frrni ?MP ÈEm, F,vÐ¡P ânfi¡v¡/

3.t9€.00 aì lg,1g4.0rl

l5{r,EYt 'l!ll:l-Ty"t:ll,,F tbð5Ë¡'lÊrt
NolherBoatd: l\,1ts17-RH.M 1 us*wc lrrl. hrolüd€ r/+6æu R0.6u t¿.cc{¿3 æH¿, {Lltscdtr"

t ude¡ I p5bJ0 e¡Fr6 f usg:10 p$,l n,ots hèllM !ro:r, rËM r'¿.rl)
225).00

0.00

?.09
20s 0t

o.oó

0.00

FÂM: F^ùt{(ìn.n:lF3

iruriorruår sùo.a+cce-Mser¡

t6b UUtlü.1ült¡ tlÂM

?401ìÊ rì84 ta úlv¡æ $!ìn

w, *jói,üi",r;*i¿ siiq^,riu srro'rd nr.rrr rrtðrLic6ic.

SÞl¡d 8H¡oI* Br¡el aÌ¡ilryPæk¡F

htrroilmt'e¡ìn¡ 8:rræ'

Ê

e f,25,t.ô0opor¿tlng Syslemr OSìV10ENT84.nH.¡¿l

orclrtr c)vtsftl 
^Y.$-RH-M 

l

s-.onn"r' f ICeN.Pú-l'f i
J.0u

Warmntyr WfINT-3YÊ.F4Ml ¡ Yèu Rh¡,ìoï¡b C{nìñ.ts Wd¿ar:yír{llol Ortt

353,00

2 FD.V.I

trow. õablÈi CBL-P'ûjF-€FT-NC

W¡rmlyr WfiNT-3vR.h).V-r

RdnòT¡bvtukk(l tnll0lv C Elh¿mnl, {(FCl.[.{FFP¡o'lhru,?Fm
ls E¡lF¡Rl P@crOqìld d h¡.ìlkr S(a3o)

6Ér tsuôlú fowHþ

I YEd FhltôIáaldk Wr'ÁaVßx.Vl Þook Arl/)

0,tì0

n ôr¡

t,00

4.0¡ì

6

3 KBD-TC3-ELT-X3818 Rj00{kU¡ 4âtl*xrd- TGI¡ k8^-31--X¡Élt fi?k¡nkd lldnû¿
Kdlb¡d\úh l0üúât /Cil d&d - 3 Yú E{ú¡ÊUß/4 Sdsrry,((g¡-
Er T.SrU6.Ê(61

25ù.00 6 1,554.00

Will a målchlng purßhrse order be lssued lor lhis order?

when nr¡ll veh¡ôles bc av8¡lablclor llts(illlÐtloh?

Þrlnlå¡l Nâñe:

Rank:

D¡te ól Approvâli

YES NO

Sub Total

Shlpplñg Coêt

Adfustmelt

Tota!

2A,464.0,1

294.39

-1,20û00

27,558.39

S¡gnalurë ol Approval

Nolerc:

FST.1t:As tn

Page 34 of 99



Agenda ltem #15.3.

ES r -3405

Discount is lor Trade-in tablels:

1) ci-1 1 13-0848 Prrrcl¡ascrj 1 l/5/201:l

2l ci-1113-0849 Purchasedll/5/2013

3) ci-1113-0850 Purchascdll/5/20.l3

4\ ci-f1 13-0851 Purchasccl I 1i5l2013

5) ci'll .l3"0852 Purchased I l/5/2013

6I cig3-l lî5-1339 FurchaseC I ¡/18/2015

Tetnls & Conditions:

Unpaid balances accrue 1.5% interest pet tnonlh

FÊT.A?ú zlt

Page 35 of 99



Page 36 of 99



Agenda ltem #15.4.

Town Council
.STAFF REPORT

To:

Title:
Meeting:
Department:
Staff Contact:

Town Council

Solid Waste/Recycling & Transfer Ordinance 00-31 Amendment

Town Council - 26 Feb 2020

Town Clerk's Office

Todd Rainier, Town Clerk

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
Currently, the town has 2 separate and outdated documents namely, Solid Waste Ordinance #00-3'1 and Recycling &
Transfer Ordinance/Policy. These documents should be combined and updated to reflect current Recycling & Transfer
policies. Per Section 3.6 Ordinance of the Town Charter,

"A. An ordinance may be introduced by any member at any regular or special meeting of the Council. Upon
introduction of any ordinance, the Town Clerk or desþnee shall distribute a copy to each Councilor and to the
Town Administrator, file a reasonable number of copies in the office of the Town Clerk, post a copy in such other
public places as the Council may designate, and provide for publication in a local newspaper or newspapers of
their choice seven (7) days prior to the public hearing on said ordinance. The full text of the proposed
amendment or ordinance need not be included in the notice if an adequate statement describing the proposal
and designating the place where the proposal is on file for public inspection is sfaúed in the notice. Final action
on said ordinance shall not be taken by the Town Council until at least seven (7) days after said puhlic hearing.
B. Every proposed ordinance of the Council shall be introduced in writing and in the form required for final
adoption. No ordinance shall contain more than one subject, which shall be clearly expressed in its title. Each
ordinance shall be identified by a number and a sho¡t title. The enacting clause shall be "The Town of Hooksett
ordains ...". Any ordinance which repeals or amends an existing ordinance shall set out in full the ordinance,
secúions or subsections fo be repealed or amended, and shall indicate matter to be omitted by enclosíng it in
brackets or by strikeout type, and shall indicate new matter by underscoring or by italics."

FINANCIAL IMPACT:
None.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS
None.

RECOMMENDATION:
To schedule a Public Hearing at the next Town Council meeting.

SUGGESTED MOTION:
Motion to schedule a Public Hearing at the next Town Council meeting

ATTAGHMENTS:
R&T Policv Oriqnal
Solid Waste Ordinance 00-31 Oriqinal
R&T Ordinance 00-31 w edits

Page 37 of 99



Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 38 of 99



Recycling and Transfer Department Ordinance

This Policy is created to establish control of solid waste in the Town of Hooksett, implementing rules and regulations
for the operation ofthe Transfer and Recycling Center (Center), curbside collection of trash and recycling, and setting
of fees for the use of the facility. Control and regulation of solid waste will serve the public interest, protect health and
safety of Town residents and conserve our natural resources.

SECTION I
DEFINITIONS AND WORD USAGE

As used in this Policy, the following terms shall have the following mean¡ngs:

ACCEPTABLE WASTE - Household garbage, trash, rubbish and refuse originating within the boundaries of the
Town, normally collected or disposed of as a result of residential pickups or deliveries.

AUTOMATED COLLECTION - shall mean a method of collecting refuse and recycling through the use of mechanical
collection equipment and special carts issued for the storage and collection of rubbish and recyclables.

AUTOMATED COLLECTION CART - shall mean a specially designed cart with wheels, approved by the Town of
Hooksett to be used for the storage of acceptable refuse or recyclables in the automated collection operation.

COMMERCIAL - Commercial ent¡ties do¡ng business in the Town of Hooksett includ¡ng but not limited to contractors,
multifamily dwellings of more than four (4) units, commercial establishments of any size .

CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS - Non-putrescible waste building materials and rubble

CURB LINE - shall mean the area directly behind or adjacent to the curb; in the absence of a curb, the area adjacent
to the edge of pavement or road.

CURBSIDE COLLECTION - shall mean the pickup of acceptable trash and recyclables at certain residences in the
Town

CUSTOMER - shall mean any resident who delivers waste to the facility or receives trash and or recycling service
from the Town

DEMOLITION WASTE - See Construction Debris

DESIGNATED COLLECTION POINT - shall mean the place where the automated cart shall be placed for service, as
determined by the Recycling and Transfer Department.

EXTRA REFUSE - shall mean any refuse placed on, or around automated collection cart in excess capacity of the
automated cart.

HAZARDOUS WASTE - shall mean any material which has been identified as hazardous waste by the New
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services. Such wastes include, but are not limited to, those wh¡ch are
ignitable, irritants, or strong sensitizers, or which generate pressure through decomposition, heat, or other means.
Such term also encompasses any solid, semisolid, liquid or contained gaseous waste, or any comb¡nation of these
wastes which, because of e¡ther quantity, concentration, or physical, chemical or infectious characterist¡cs may: a)
cause or contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in irreversible or incapacitat¡ng reversible illness; and/or
b) pose a present or potential threat to humans or the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported,
disposed of, or otherwise mismanaged.

HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE - hazardous waste generated from non-commercial usage by persons in their
living abodes.

INFECTIOUS WASTE - Any waste which, because of its infectious nature, may cause or significantly contr¡bute to an
increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible or incapacitating reversible illness, or pose a substantial

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 39 of 99



present or potential hazard to human health orthe env¡ronment when improperly treated, stored, transported
disposed of, or otherwise managed.

MANDATORY - Officially required

METAL GOODS (METAL). Metal goods include household appliances, air conditioners, aluminum lawn chairs,
aluminum windows, outside grills, hot water tanks, and other metallic ilems that can be readily recycled and
marketed.

MOTOR VEHICLE WASTE - Used motor oil, motor vehicle batteries, antifreeze, and tires ftom motorized vehicles.

MULTI-FAMILY RSIDENTIAL PROPERTY - shall mean more than one ('1) but not more than four (4) dwelling units
in a building.

RECYCLABLE - Any item w¡thin the town recycling program which can be recycled with the intent of reusing that
item

RECYCLING - The collection, storage processing, and redistribution of separated solid waste as to return material to
the marketplace.

REFUSE - Any solid waste product which is composed wholly or partly of such materials as garbage, swill,
sweepings, cleanings, trash, rubbish, litter, industrial solid wastes, organicwastes, and domestic solid wastes.

RESIDENT - a person who is domiciled or has a place of abode in the Town of Hooksett and who has, through all of
h¡s or her act¡ons, demonstrated a current intent to designate that place of abode as his or her principal place of
physical presence for the indefinite future to the exclusion of all others.

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY - shall mean a single-family or multÈfamily housing building that cons¡sts of four (4) or
fewer dwelling units.

SOLID WASTE - Any matter cons¡st¡ng of putrescible material, refuse, and other discarded or abandoned material. lt
includes solid, liquid, semisolid, orconta¡ned gaseous material resulting from industrial, commercial, mining and
agricultural operations and from community activities. For the purposes of this Ordinance, it does not include
hazardous waste as defìned in RSA147A:2 or infectious waste as defined in this Section.

USER FEE - A charge, usually by a municipality, to users of a service.

YARD WASTE - Leaves, grass clippings, weeds, hedge clippings, garden waste, and twigs.

SECTION II

CURBSI DE AUTOMATED COLLECTION

It shall be required for curbside collection in the Town of Hooksett that all designated recyclable mater¡als will be
separated from the solid waste stream and disposed of in the approved recycling containers, either at the curb-side,
in the mobile recycling trailer or at the Recycling and Transfer Center . The reason for separation is to help conlrol
the costs associated with the disposal and management of solid waste by diverting as many recyclables from the
solid waste stream as possible. The listing of acceptable materials will be ava¡lable atthe Recycling and Transfer
Center, or online at www.hooksett.oro under the Recycling and Transfer Department.

The purpose of this section is to establish minimum standards for the storage, collection, transportation and
disposal of solidwaste and recycling, utilizing an automated collection program to promotethe health, safety
, and welfare of the Town's residents, employees and env¡ronment, and to m¡nimize the amount of trash
generated in the Town.

b. The Superintendent shall have the direct responsibility for the administration of this section subject to the
direction and control of the Town Administrator and the Town Council.

a

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 40 of 99



c. The Town will provide curbside collection of residential solid waste from public schools, mun¡c¡pal buildings,
single family dwellings, multi-family dwellings (not more than 4 units)

d. Two automated collection carts, one for trash, one for recycling, and ¡nstructions for use will be distributed
for residents who receive collect¡on services from the Town. Additional recycling carts may be issued in

certain circumstances, upon recommendat¡on of the Superintendent, determination will be made on a case
by case situation by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory Comm¡ttee.

e. lt will be the res¡dent's responsibility to assure that automated collection carts are placed in the appropriate
location designated by the Town, by 7:00 am on collection day. The Superintendent or his/her designee
shall have the authority to review and approve or d¡sapprove placement of the collection carts. Alternative
s¡tes may be necessary to safeguard public safety and minimize risk of damage to public or private property

during the collection process.

f. lt is the res¡dent's responsibility to remove the automated cart from the curb line by the end of the collection
day.

S. lt is prohibited to overload automated carts in a manner that is l¡kely to cause damage to the collection
vehicle,theautomatedcartortocreatealittercond¡tionorto¡mpedecollection. ltshall beaninfractionto
place or deposil any refuse whatsoever in or around an automated cart owned or provided for the use of
another customer without that customer's approval.

Agenda ltem #15.4

h. The Town shall not be responsible for collection if there are any infractions of any section of this policy, or if
there are any c¡rcumstances that are beyond the control ofthe Town. lnfractions or circumstances include,
but are not limited to, automated cart overload, unacceptable mater¡als, improperly loaded automated cart,
blocked access, automated cart inaccessibility, improper carts or dangerous situations.

¡. Automated Carts:

1. All automated carts are the property of the Town of Hooksett and are not to be removed
from the property even in the event of a change in ownership or resident status. All
automated carts will be assigned to a street address and have an imprinted numberfor
identification purposes. One cart shall be used for trash and one cart for mixed
recyclables.

2. Any repairs to the containers will be performed by the Town. The property
owner/customer shall contact the Recycling and Transfer offìce to report damage and
request a repair. Containers damaged beyond repairwill be replaced bythe Town. lf the
containers are subject to neglect or other preventable damage as determined by the
Superintendent, the Superintendent will require a charge for the replacement. The
property owners are the ultimate party responsible for all damages or removed
containers by tenants. The owner shall pay the cost of $50.00 for any replacement
containers. The owner should work to educate the household members on the proper
use and maintenance ofthe containers.

3. All trash and recyclables shall be placed into the appropriate containers so that the lid
can be securely shut. No trash or recyclables placed on the ground or in any
unapproved containers shall be picked-up by the town. The containers shall not be
overfìlled orarranged in any mannerthat will prevent the lid from remaining closed at all

times to prevent water from filling the container, and access by animals. ln the event of
overflow, residents may bring the extra material to the facility or must wait till the next
scheduled collection day.

j. Placement of Carts
It shall be the duty of each customer to place the carts as follows:

Page 41 of 99



I . Within two (2) feet of the curb line or where directed by the Town.
2. At least fìve (5) feet away from all objects such as fences, ma¡lboxes, and utility poles,

and clear of overhang¡ng vegetation, utility wires, etc. to allow for the unimpeded operation
of collection vehicles.

3. So that the automated cart handle is facing the dwell¡ng unit.
4. At least two (2) feet from the other cart.
5. At least ten ('10) feet away from parked vehicles.

k. Approved Materials for Automated Curbside Collection
1. All approved recvclables shall be placed in the containers loose. No plastic bags should be

recycled or used to contain recyclable material. The complete l¡st of acceptable recyclables will
be prepared by the Superintendent and distributed to all residents. The list shall be available
on the website at www.hooksett.orq or al the Recycling and Transfer Department. The list may
be mod¡fied given market conditions or other factors. Recyclable materials, such as cereal
boxes, and cardboard boxes should be flattened so that the recycling container does not
become overf¡lled too quickly during a given collection week. All recyclable items shall be
empty

2. All household trash must be baqoed before placing into the trash container. All materials
must be separated and placed into the appropr¡ate container for the automated curbs¡de
program.

3. ONLY recyclables and household trash w¡ll be collected at the curb. All other material for
d¡sposal must be brought to the Recycling and Transfer Center at 210 West River Rd.

ENFORCEMENT
Sect¡on ll Collection

It is the intention of the Department to educate res¡dents as to the value of recycling and the appropriate procedures
fordoing so. lf, however, a resident ortenantviolates any provision of this section (Section ll) it may result in the
issuance of notices, warnings and poss¡ble loss of services.

FirstViolat¡on-Acourtesynoticewill beissued. lftheviolationisthedisposal ofanyunacceptablematerial,thecost
of disposal (user fee) may be incurred.

Second Violation - A written warning will be issued. lf the violation is the disposal of any unacceptable material the
cost of the disposal (user fee) will be incurred.

Third Violation - A third v¡olation will result in the loss of collection pr¡vileges, for an amount of time determined by the
Super¡ntendent, with approval by the Town Administrator. The violator shall have the right to appeal to the Town
Council.

SECTION III

CONDOMINIUMS

Condom¡niums w¡ll be required to provide for the collection and disposal of domestic trash within their communities.
The Town will reimburse tonnage at a maximum of 21 pounds per un¡t per week at the Town budgeted rate (for trash
disposal), paid sem¡-annually, upon subm¡ssion and verification of paid invoices by the condominium association.
The Town may resc¡nd or amend th¡s section at any time.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 42 of 99



SECTION IV

RECYCLING AND TRANSFER CENTER

The Center is operated and mainta¡ned in accordance with RSA 149-Mj17 solely to receive, transport, and
dispose of author¡zed solid waste generated with¡n the geograph¡cal boundaries of the Town.

These regulat¡ons have been recommended by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee and
adopted by the Town Council pursuant to the authority granted the Council by RSA 149-M:17, ll and 31 :39, I (f).
These regulations are intended to:'1. Prevent unauthorized entrance into and/or use ofthe Center;

2. Prohibit the disposal of ¡llegal and/or unacceptable waste;
3. Control the disposal of authorized solid waste to facilitate compliance with operating standards,

improve eff¡ciency and productivity, require recycl¡ng and reuse of our resources, and
maximize the life of the Center; and

4. Establish permit procedures.

The Superintendent of the Center is authorized to promulgate additional regulations subject to the approval
of the Town Council which may include, but are not limited to, the following subjects:

l. Separation of solid wastes and other materials;
2. lnspectionprocedures;
3. Hours ofoperatlon; and
4. Establishing fees.

USE OF CENTER

It is mandatory, that residents, who use the facility to drop off material, will separate all designated
recyclable mater¡als ftom the solid waste stream and dispose of lhem in the approved recycling conta¡ners. The
reason for separation is to help control the costs assoc¡ated with the disposal and management of solid waste by
divert¡ng as many recyclables from the solid waste stream as possible. The listing of acceptable materials will be
available at the Recycling and Transfer Center, or onl¡ne at www.hooksett.oro under the Recycling and Transfer
Department.

A. Permit Required.
Permits will be issued for all res¡dents who use the facility if the vehicle is registered in
Hooksett. Res¡dents who do not have a registered vehicle must show proof of res¡dency
in the way of a tax bill or license with Hooksett address.

B. Removal of material
No mater¡al shall be removed from the Center without authorization.

C. Designated Areas
Solid waste shall be disposed of only in the designated areas.

D. Unauthorized Entry
No person shall enter or attempt to enter the Center at times other than during the posted operating

hours.

E. Acceptable Solid Waste
Solid waste wh¡ch ¡s allowed to be received at the Center includes refuse, recycl¡ng, construction

debris and demol¡tion waste, motorvehiclewaste, yard waste, residential brush, appliances, and scrap
metal. User fees mav applv. See website at www.hooksett.oro or call facility 669-5198.

1. Clean demolition, wood, sheetrock(kept separate), asphalt shingles (kept separate)
2. Furniture
3. Metal items and appliances will be accepted. Appliances w¡th freon will be kept separately
4. Yard Waste (grass clippings, garden waste, leaves and branches no largerthan 3" in diameter)

must be brought to the designated area (compost pile). Yard waste brought in plastic bags
must be emptied.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 43 of 99



5. Some household hazardous wastes may be brought to the facility. Residents need to contact
the facility to determine if it can be accepted.

F. Unacceptable Solid Waste
Materials wh¡ch will not be accepted at the Center shall ¡nclude, but not be limited to, the following:

1. Hazardous waste. Hazardous waste or material wh¡ch the Town considers to be detr¡mental to
the operation of the Center or which require special handling or disposal procedures.

2. Other. lnfectious, pathological and biological waste, rad¡oactive mater¡als, oil sludges,
hazardous refuse of any klnd, or other substances wh¡ch are now or are hereafier considered
harmful, inflammable, hazardous, or toxic, or which would pose a threat to health or safety, or
which may cause damage to or adversely affect the operation ofthe Center.

3. Tires on rims.
G. StumpsandLogs. Alsobranchesgreaterthanthreeinches¡ndiameterorthreefeetinlength.

ENFORCEMENT
Use of Recycl¡ng and Transfer Facility

It is the ¡ntention ofthe Department to educate residents as to the value of recycling and the appropriate procedures
for do¡ng so. ll however, a resident, tenant or Hooksett Commercial Bus¡ness violates any provision of this section
(SectionlV) itmayresultintheissuanceof notices,warnings andpossiblelossofprivilegesatthefacility.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 44of99



SOLID WASTE
ORDINANCE # OO-31

The Town of Hooksett ordains that, pursuant to the authority granted under Section 3.6 of
the Hooksett Town Charter, the following ordinance ¡s hereby enacted in the Town of Hooksett:

INTRODUCTION

An Ordinance is hereby created establishing control of solid waste in the Town of Hooksett
(Town), implementing rules and regulations forthe operation of the Transfer and Recycling
Center (Center), and setting fees for the use of the facilities thereof.

Whereas, the control and regulation of solid waste will serve the public interest, protect the
health and safety of Town residents, and conserve our natural resources, and,

Whereas the Town has authority pursuant to State law and the Town Charter to establish
rules and regulations for the control of solid waste, to establish permit regulations, and to
prescribe penalties for the violations thereof. and

Whereas it is necessary to establish the rules and regulations for the acceptance of sol¡d
waste, therefore be ¡t orda¡ned by the Town of Hooksett, the County of Merrimack, and the
State of New Hampsh¡re, that a solid waste ordinance is hereby establlshed setting forth
regulations governing the use of the Center and requiring that perm¡ts be obtained and fees
pa¡d.

SECTION 1

DEFINITIONS AND WORD USAGE

As used in this Ordinance, the following terms shall have the following meanings

CENTER. The Town of Hooksett Transfer and Recycling Center situated off Route 34.

COMMERCIAL. Any and all nonresidential activities.

CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS. Non-putrescible waste building materials and rubble

DEMOLITION WASTE. See Construction Debris.

DISPOSAL. The discharge, deposit, ¡njection, dumping, spilling, leaking, or placement of any solid
waste into or onto any land or water so that such solid waste or any constituent of ¡t may enter the
environment, be em¡tted into the air, or be discharged into any water, including groundwater.

HAZARDOUS WASTE. Any material wh¡ch has been identified as hazardous waste by the New
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services. Such wastes include, but are not lim¡ted to,
those which are ignitable, irr¡tants, or strong sensitizers, orwhich generate pressure through
decompos¡tion, heat, or other means. Such term also encompasses any solid, semisolid, liquid or
contained gaseous waste, or any combinat¡on ofthese wastes which, because of either quantity,
concentration, or physical, chemical or infectious characterist¡cs may: a) cause or contribute to an
¡ncrease in mortality or an increase in ¡rreversible or incapacitating reversible illness; and/or b) pose
a present or potential threat to humans or the environment when improperly treated, stored,
transported, disposed ol or otherwise mismanaged.

INFECTIOUS WASTE. Any waste wh¡ch, because of its infectious nature, may cause or signifìcantly
contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible orincapacitating reversible
illness, or pose a substantial present or potential hazard to human health or the environment when
improperly treated, stored, transported, disposed of, or otheMise managed.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

7l

Page 45 of 99



HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE. Hazardous waste generated from non-commercial usage by
persons in their living abodes.

METAL GOODS (METAL). Metal goods include household appliances, a¡rconditioners, aluminum
lawn chairs, aluminum windows, outside grills, hot water tanks, and other metallic items that can be
readily recycled and marketed.

MOTOR VEHICLE WASTE. Used motor oil. motor vehicle batteries, antifreeze, and tires from
motorized vehicles.

RECYCLABLES. Any item within the Town recycling program which can be recycled with the intent
of reus¡ng that ¡tem.

RECYCLING. The collection, storage processing, and redistribution of separated solid waste so as
to return material to the marketplace.

REFUSE. Any solid waste product which is composed wholly or partly of such materials as
garbage, sw¡ll, sweepings, cleanings, trash, rubbish, litter, industrial solid wastes, organic wastes
and domestic solid wastes.

RESIDENT. A person who is domiciled or has a place of abode in the Town of Hooksett and who
has, through all of his or her act¡ons, demonstrated a current intent to designate that place of abode
as his or her principal place of physical presence for the ¡ndefinite future to the exclusion of all
others.

SOLID WASTE. Any matter consisting of putrescible material, refuse, and other discarded or
abandoned material. lt includes solid, liquid, semisolid, or contained gaseous material resulting from
industrial, commercial, mining, and agricultural operations and from community activities. For the
purposes of this Ordinance, it does not include hazardous waste as defined in RSA '1474:2,

infectious waste as def¡ned ¡n this Section, solid ordissolved materials and irrigation return flows, or
municipal and industrial discharges which are point sources subject to permits under Section 402 of
the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, or source special nuclear or by-product
mater¡al as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended. Solid waste includes municipal
solid waste (MSW) as def¡ned in State Solid Waste Rule ENV-Wm 103.23.

USER FEE. A charge usually by a municipality to users of a service.

YARD WASTE. Leaves, grass clippings, weeds, hedge clippings, garden waste, and twigs.

SECTION II

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY AUTHORITY

The Center is operated and maintained in accordance with RSA 149-M:17 solely to rece¡ve,
transport, and dispose of authorized solid waste generated within the geographical boundaries of
the Town.

These regulations have been recommended by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory
Committee and adopted by the Town Counc¡l pursuant to the authority granted the Council by RSA
149-M:17, ll and 31:39, I (0. These regulations are intended to:

1. Prevent unauthorized entrance ¡nto and/or use of the Center;

2. Prohibit the disposal of illegal and/or unacceptable solid waste

3. Control the disposal of authorized solid waste to facilitate compliance w¡th operating
standards, improve efficiency and productivity, encourage recycling and reuse of our resources, and
maximize the life of the Center; and

Agenda ltem #15.4.

4. Establish permit procedures

72

Page 46 of 99



C

D.

The Superintendent of the Center is authorized to promulgate additional regulations subject
to the approval of the Town Council which may include, but are not limited to, the following subjects

1. Separation of solid wastes and other materials;

2. lnspectionprocedures;

3. Hours of operation; and

4. Establishing fees
SECTION III

USE OF CENTER

A. Permit Required

No resident shall dispose of solid waste at the Center without having obta¡ned a permit for
such activity. ln the event the vehicle being used is not registered in Hooksett, paperwork disclosing
the residential address must be submitted.

Removal of Material

No material shall be removed from the Center without author¡zation.

Designated Areas

Solid waste shall be disposed of only in designated areas.

Unauthorized Entry

No person shall enter or attempt to enter the Center at t¡mes other than during
posted operating hours.

SECTION IV
RECYCLING

The policy of the Center ¡s to promote and encourage recycling within the Town. The
recycling program is ¡ntended to facilitate the reuse of resources, reduce operating costs through
avoidance of tipp¡ng fee rates, and provide additional income to the Town (when applicable).
Res¡dents, who use the fac¡lity, will be required to recycle cardboard. Cardboard is easily accepted
in an area clearly marked. The recycling of other materials is strongly encouraged.

SECTION V
SOLID WASTE POLICIES

A. Acceptable Solid Waste

Solid waste which is allowed to be received at the Center includes refuse,
construct¡on debris and demolition waste, motor vehicle waste, yard waste
residential brush, appliances, and scrap metal. User fees may apply, see
Section Vlll.

Clean demolition w¡ll be accepted: sheetrock (must be kept separate) wood, asphalt
sh¡ngles (must be kept separate), and bricks (must be kept separate).

Metal ¡tems and appliances w¡ll be accepted. Appliances with Freon will be kept separate.

Yard waste (grass clippings, garden waste, and leaves) must be brought to the des¡gnated
area (compost pile) and must be free from branches. Material brought in plastic bags must be
emptied.

Agenda ltem #15.4

73

Page 47 of 99



Some household hazardous wastes may be brought to the facility. Res¡dents need to
contact the facility to determine if it can be accepted.

B. Unacceptable Sol¡d Waste

Materials which will nol be accepted at the Center shall include, but not be
limited to, the following:

't. Hazardous Waste. Hazardous waste or materials which the Town considers to be
detrimental to the operation of the Center or which require special handling or disposal
procedures.

2. Other. lnfectious, pathological and biological waste, radioactive materials, oil sludges,
hazardous refuse of any kind, or other substances which are now or are hereafter
considered harmful, inflammable, hazardous, or toxic, or which would otherwise not
normally be allowed for burial under New Hampshire Department of Environmental
Services or U.S. Env¡ronmental Protect¡on Agency regulations, orwh¡ch would be likely
to pose a threat to health or safety, orwhich may cause damage to or adversely arTecf

the operation of the Center.

3. Tires on Rims. Also see Section Vll, Fees.

4. Stumps; Logs. Stumps and logs greater than three ¡nches in diameter orthree feet in
length.

SECTION VI
PERMIT PROCEDURES

A. ln General

Permits may be obtained during normal business hours at the Center, 210 West
River Road, Hooksett, New Hampshire.

All permits shall be nontransferable

Each vehicle intended for transport of solid waste to the Center must be
permitted.

Permits must be prominently displayed on the window of the passenger side of
the vehicle, which is bearing solid waste to be d¡sposed of at the Center.

1. Residential

Any person applying for a permit must present a vehicle registration showing
residence in the Town.

b. Permits are issued free of charge.

2. Commercial.

a. Any commercial entity must call the office for permission to enter the premises and
have proper ident¡fication of legal Hookseft address.
Perm¡ls will not be issued

b. Hooksett commerc¡al entit¡es, may use the facility only to bring in solid waste that is
generated in Hooksett.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

B. Revocation of Permit

14

Page 48 of 99



The Superintendent may revoke the permit of any holder when a written finding is made that
the holder of the permit orthe holder's agent has violated any provisions of these
regulations or any regulations promulgated hereunder. The Superintendent will provide
written notice of the revocat¡on to the holder of the permit by certified mail. Any person with
such notice of revocat¡on may request a hearing before the Town Administrator within fifteen
(15) days of the receipt of such notice The Town Administrator will aff¡rm, reverse, or
modify the action of the Superintendent. The revocation of the permit will be stayed during
the pendency ofthe appeal.

SECTION VII
VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES

Any person or commerc¡al entity violating any provision of th¡s ordinance or any regulation
adopted pursuant to this Ordinance shall:

a. be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $3,000 for each act constituting a violation of
this Ordinance or the regulations adopted pursuant hereto;

b. be subject to revocation of permission to use the Center,

c. be l¡able for all costs incurred by the Town resulting from the v¡olation and enforcement
of this Ordinance, including attorney's fees; and,

d. be liable for all costs of removal of solid waste improperly disposed of and all costs
incurred bythe Town resulting from the improper disposal of waste atthe Center.

sEcTtoN vilt
FEES

The following d¡sposal fees (user fees) are designed to defray some of the expense incurred
bythe Town in administering and operating the Center. This list ¡s not meant to be all inclusive and
additional information can be obtained by calling the ofi¡ce at 669-5198 orchecking the website at
www.hooksett.oro and checking under the Recycling and Transfer Department.

Demolition, $100.00 per ton.

Furn¡ture. $100.00 per ton.

Carþet. $100.00 per ton (must be cut into 4'lengths)

Electonics. $.11 per pound

Commercial $20

Agenda ltem #15.4

Fee assessed per unit.
Metal with refr¡gerants Resident $1 1.00
Appliances (per un¡t) $5.00

Recycling
No fee

Solid Waste. Resident $0

Tires (not on rims)

Commercial $100 per ton

75

Page 49 of 99



Resident- No charge for the first four tires(passenger tires) per year per registered Hooksett
vehicle, thereafter a charge of $2 for each tire. Not accepted from commercial entities.

Yard Waste. Fee assessed per load, one-ton truck.
Resldent $0 Commercial, $15

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Adopted:
Amended
Amended

6t1'U97
3t10t't0
10t8t2014

James Sullivan
Town Council Chair

Todd Ra¡nier
Town Clerk

76

Page 50 of 99



SO ÞÈWASJFE- RECYCLING & TRANSFER
ORDINANCE # OO-31

The Town of Hooksett ordains that, pursuant to the authority granted under Section 3.6 of the Hooksett
Town Charter, the following ordinance is hereby enacted in the Town of Hooksett:

INTRODUCTION

An Ordinance is hereby created establishing control of solid waste in the Town of Hooksett (Town),
implementing rules and regulations for the operation of the T¡ansfer and Recycling and Transfer Qenier
(Center), curbside collection of trash and setting fees forthe use of the facilities thereof.

Whereas, the control and regulation of solid waste will serve the public interest, protect the health and
safety of Town residents, and conserve our natural resources, and,

Whereas the Town has authority pursuant to State law and the Town Charter to establish rules and
regulations for the control of solid waste, to establish permit regulations, and to prescribe penalties for
the violations thereof, and

Whereas it is necessary to establish the rules and regulations for the acceptance of solid waste,
therefore be it ordained by the Town of Hooksett, the County of Merrimack, and the State of New
Hampshire, that a solid waste ordinance is hereby established setting forth regulations governing the use
of the Center and requiring that permits be obtained and fees paid.

sEcTtoN 1

DEFINITIONS AND WORD USAGE

As used in this Ordinance, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

ACCEPTABLE WASTE - Household gafttage, trash, rubbish and refuse originating within the boundaries
of the Town, normally collected or disposed of as a result of residential pickups or deliveries.

AUTOMATED COLLECTION - shall mean a method of collecting refuse and recycling through the use of
mechanical collection equipment and special carts issued for the storage and collection of rubbish and
recyclables.

AUTOMATED COLLECTION CART - shall mean a specially designed cart with wheels, approved by the
Town of Hooksett to be used for the storage of acceptable refuse or recyclables in the automated
collection operation.

CENTER. The Town of Hooksett Transfer and Recycling and Transfer Center situated off Route 34.

COMMERCIAL. Any and all nonresidential activities.

CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS. Non-putrescible waste building materials and rubble.

CURB LINE - shall mean the area directly behind or adjacent to the curb; in the absence of a curb, the
area adjacent to the edge of pavement or road.

CURBSIDE COLLECTION - shall mean the pickup of acceptable trash and recyclables at certain
residences in the Town

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 51 of99



CUSTAMER - shall mean any res¡dent who del¡vers waste to the facility or receives trash and or recycling
service from the Town

DEMOLITION WASTE. See Construction Debris

DESIGNATED COLLECTION POINT - shall mean the place where the automated carl shall be placed for
service, as determined by the Recycling and Transfer Department.

DISPOSAL. The discharge, deposit, injection, dumping, spilling, leaking, or placement of any solid
waste into or onto any land or water so that such solid waste or any constituent of it may enter the
environment, be emitted into the air, or be discharged into any water, including groundwater.

EXTRA REFUSE - shall mean any refuse placed on, or around automated collection carf in excess
capacity of the automated cart.

HAZARDOUS WASTE. Any material which has been identified as hazardous waste by the New
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services. Such wastes include, but are not limited to, those
which are ignitable, irritants, or strong sensitizers, or which generate pressure through decomposition,
heat, or other means. Such term also encompasses any solid, semisolid, liquid or contained gaseous
waste, or any combination of these wastes which, because of either quantity, concentrat¡on, or physical,
chemical or infectious characteristics may: a) cause or contribute to an increase in mortality or an
increase in irreversible or incapacitating reversible illness; andior b) pose a present or potential threat to
humans or the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise
mismanaged.

HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE - hazardous waste generated from non-commercial usage by
persons in their living abodes.

INFECTIOUS WASTE. Any waste which, because of its infectious nature, may cause or significantly
contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible or incapacitating reversible
illness, or pose a substantial present or potential hazard to human health or the environment when
improperly treated, stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise managed.

MANDATORY - Officially required.

METAL GOODS (METAL). Metal goods include household appliances, air conditioners, aluminum lawn
chairs, aluminum windows, outside grills, hot water tanks, and other metallic items that can be readily
recycled and marketed.

MOTOR VEHICLE WASTE. Used motor oil, motor vehicle batteries, antifreeze, and tires from motorized
vehicles.

MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY - shall mean more than one (1) but not more than three (3)
dwelling units in a building.

RECYCLABLES. Any item within the Town recycling program which can be recycled with the intent of
reusing that item.

RECYCLING. The collection, storage processing, and redistribution of separated solid waste so as to
return material to the marketplace,

REFUSE. Any solid waste product which is composed wholly or partly of such materials as garbage,
swill, sweepings, cleanings, trash, rubbish, litter, industrial solid wastes, organic wastes, and domestic

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 52 of 99



solid wastes.

RESIDENT. A person who is domiciled or has a place of abode in the Town of Hooksett and who has,
through all of his or her actions, demonstrated a current intent to designate that place of abode as his or
her principal place of physical presence for the indefinite future to the exclusion of all others.

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY - shall mean a single-family or multi-family housing building that consists of
three (3) or fewer dwelling units.

SOLID WASTE. Any matter consisting of putrescible material, refuse, and other discarded or abandoned
material. lt includes solid, liquid, semisolid, or contained gaseous material resulting from industrial,
commercial, mining, and agricultural operations and from community activities. For the purposes of this
Ordinance, itdoes not include hazardous waste as defined in RSA 1474:2,
infectious waste as defined in this Section, solid or dissolved materials and irrigation return flows, or
municipal and industrial discharges which are point sources subject to permits under Section 402 of the
Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, or source special nuclear or by-product material as
defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended. Solid waste includes municipal solid waste
(MSW) as defined in State Solid Waste Rule ENV-Wm 103.23.

USER FEE. A charge usually by a municipality to users of a service.

YARD WASTE. Leaves, grass clippings, weeds, hedge clippings, garden waste, and twigs

sEcnoN il
CURBSIDE AUTOMATED COLLECTION

It shall be required for curbside collection in the Town of Hooksett that all designated recyclable materials
will be separated from the solid waste stream and drsposed of in the approved recycling containers, either
at the curb-side or at the Recycling and Transfer Center. The reason for separation is to help control the
cosfs assocraled with the disposal and management of solid waste by diveñing as many recyclables from
the solid waste stream as posslb/e. The listing of acceptable materials will be available at the Recycling
and Transfer Center, or online at www.hooksett.orcl under the Recycling and Transfer Department.

1. The purpose of this sectian is to establish minimum standards for the storage, collection,
transporfation and disposal of solid waste and recycling, utilizing an automated collection
program to promote the health, safety and welfare of the Town's residents, employees and
environment, and to minimize the amount of trash generated in the Town.

2. The Crew Chief shall have the direct responsibility for the administration of this section subject to
the direction and control of the Town Administrator and the Town Council.

3. The Town will provide curbside collection of residential solid waste from municipal buildings,
single family dwellings, multi-family dwellings (not more than 3 units)

4. Two automated collection carls, one for trash, one for recycling, and instructions for use will be
distributed for residents who receive collection services from the Town. Additional recycling cafts
may be issued in ceñain circumsfances, upon recommendation of the Crew Chief, determination
will be made on a case by case situation by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee.

5. lt will be the residenf's responslbl/lty to assure that automated collection carts are placed in the
appropriate location designated by the Town, by 7:00 am on collection day. The Crew Chief or
his/her designee shall have the author¡ty to review and approve or disapprove placement of the
collection carts. Alternafiye slfes may be necessary to safeguard public safety and minimize risk
of damage to public or private property during the collection process.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 53 of 99



6. /t is the resident's responsibility to remove the automated caft from the curb lìne by the end of the
collection day.

7. lt is prohibited to overload automated carts ¡n a manner that is likely to cause damage ta the
collection vehicle, the automated cañ or to create a litter condition or to impede collection. lt shall
be an infraction to place or deposit any refuse whatsoever in or around an automated cart owned
or provided for the use of another customer without that customer's approval.

8. The Town shall not be responsible for collection if there are any infractions of any section of this
policy, or if there are any circumstances that are beyond the control of the Town. lnfractions or
circumstances include, but are not limited to, automated cart overload, unacceptable materials,
improperly loaded automated cañ, blocked access, automated ca¡f inaccessibility, improper carts
or dangerous situat¡ons.

I e Aubmated Cafts

la)All automated carts are the property of the Town of Hooksett and are not to be removed from
the property even in the event of a change in ownership or resident status. All automated
carls will be assigned ta a street address and have an ¡mprinted number for identification
purposes. One cart shall be used for trash and one cart for mixed recyclables.

*b)Any repairs to the containers will be pertormed by the Town. The property owner/customer
shall contact the Recycling and Transfer office to report damage and request a repair.
Containers damaged beyond repair will be replaced by the Town. If the containers are
subject to neglect or other preventable damage as determined by the Crew Chief, the Crew
Chief will require a charge for the replacement. The propeñy owners are the ultimate pañy
responsible for all damages or removed containers by tenants. The owner shall pay the cost
of $50.00 for any replacement containers. The owner should work to educate the household
members on the proper use and maintenance of the containers.

c) All trash and recyclables shall be placed into the appropriate containers so that the lid can be
securely shut. No trash or recyclables placed on the ground or in any unapproved containers
shall be picked-up by the town. The containers shall not be overfilled or arranged in any
manner that will prevent the lid from remaining closed at all times to prevent water from filling
the container, and access by animals. ln the event of overtlow, residents may bring the extra
material to the facility or must wait till the next scheduled collection day.

10. Placement of Carts - lt shall be the duty of each customer to place the carfs as follows:

*a)Within two (2) feet of the curb line or where directed by the Town.

Zb)At least five (5) feet away from all objects such as fences, mailboxes, and utility poles,
and clear of overhanging vegetation, utility wires, etc. to allow for the unimpeded operation of
collection vehicles.

?.c) So that the automated caft handle is facing the dwelling unit.

4d)At least two (2) feet from the other carf.

e) At least ten (10) feet away from parked vehicles.

+1 1. Approved Materials for Automated Curbside Collection

4-a)All approved recvclables shall be placed in the containers /oose. lr/o plastic bags should be
recycled or used to contain recyclable material. The complete list of acceptable recyclables
will be prepared by the Crew Chief and distributed to all residents. The list shall be available

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 54 of 99



on the webs¡te at www.hooksett.orq or at the Recycling and Transfer Department. The list
may be modified given market condit¡ons or other factors. Recyclable materials, such as
cereal boxes, and cardboard boxes should be flattened so that the recycling container does
not become ove¡'filled too quickly during a given collection week. All recyclable items shall be
empty

*b)All household trash must be baqqed before placing into the trash container. All materials
must be separated and placed into the appropriate container for the automated curbside
program.

c) ONLY recyclables and household trash will be collected at the curb. AII other material for
disposal must be brought to the Recycling and Transfer Center at 210 West River Rd.

ENFORCEMENT
COLLECTION

It is the intention of the Department to educate residents as to thé value of recycling and the appropriate
procedures for doing so. lf, however, a resident or tenant violates any provision of this section (Section ll)
it may result in the issuance of notices, warnings and possible /oss of services.

First Violation - A courtesy notice will be lssued. lf the violation rs fhe disposal of any unacceptable
material, the cost of d¡sposal (user fee) may be incurred.

Second Violation - A written warning will be issued. lf the violation is fhe dr'sposal of any unacceptable
material the cost of the disposal (user fee) will be incurred.

Third Violation - A third violation will result in the loss of collection privileges, for an amount of time
determined by the Crew Chíef , with approval by the Town Administrator. The violator shall have the right
to appeal to the Town Council.

sEcTtoN ilt
CONDOMINIUMS

Condominiums will be required to provide for the collection and disposal of domestic trash within their
communities. The Town will reimburse tonnage at a maximum of 21 pounds per unit per week at the Town
budgeted rate (for trash disposal), paid semi-annually, upon subrnrssion and verification of paid invoices by
the condominium association. The Town may rescind or amend this section at any time.

SECTION IV
RECYCLING AND TRANSFER CENTER

The Center is operated and maintained in accordance with RSA 149-M:17 solely to receive, transport, and
dlspose of authorized solid waste generated within the geographical boundaries of the Town.

These regulations have been recommended by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee and
adopted by the Town Council pursuant to the authority granted the Council by RSA 149-M:17, ll and
31:39, I (Ð. These regulations are intended to:

1. Prevent unauthorized entrance into and/or use of the Center;
2. Prohibit the disposal of illegal and/or unacceptable waste;
3. Control the disposal of authorized solid waste to facilitate compliance with operating standards,

improve efficiency and productivity, require recycling and reuse of oLir resources, and maximize
the life of the Center; and

4. Establish permit procedures.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 55 of 99



The Crew Chief of the Center is authorized to promulgate additional regulations subject to the approval of
the Town Council which may include, but are not limited to, the following subjects:

1. Separation of solid wasfes and other materials,'
2. Inspectionprocedures;
3. Hours of operation; and
4. Establishing fees.

USE OF CENTER

It is mandatory, that residents, who use the facility to drop off material, will separate all designated
recyclable materials from the solid waste stream and dþose of them in the approved recycling containers.
The reason for separation is to help control the cosfs associated with the disposal and management of
solid waste by diverting as many recyclables from the solid waste stream as possrbie. The listing of
acceptable materials will be available at the Recycling and Transfer Center, or online at ww¡t.hooksett.orq
under the Recycling and Transfer Department.

1. Permit Requirecl.
Permits will be issued for all residents who use the facility if the vehicle is registered in Hooksett.
Resldenfs who do not have a reg¡stered vehicle must show proof of residency in the way of a tax
bill or license with Hooksett address.

2. Removal of material
No material shall be removed from the Center without authorization

3. Designated Areas
Solid waste shail be disposed of only in the designated areas.

4. Unauthorized Entry
No person shall enter or attempt to enter the Center at times other than during the posted
operating hours.

5. Acceptable Solid Waste
Solid waste which is allowed to be received at the Center includes refuse, recycling, construction
debris and demolition waste, motor vehicle waste, yard waste, residential brush, appliances, and
scrap metal. Not all Commercial solid wasfe ls acceptable, please call ahead for approval. User
fees mav applv. See websrTe at www.hooksett.orq or call facility aT603-669-5198.

1-a)Clean demolition, wood, sheetrock(kept separate), asphalt shingles (kept separate)

Zb)Fumiture

&c) Metal items and appliances will be accepted. Appliances with freon will be kept separately

4d)Yard Waste (grass clippings, garden waste, leaves and branches no larger than 3" in
diameter) must be brought to the designated area (compost pile). Yard waste brought in
plastic bags must be emptied. No brush clearing will be accepted.

*e) Some household hazardous wastes may be brought to the facility. Resrdenfs need to contact
the facility to determine if it can be accepted.

6. Unacceptable Solid Waste
Materials which will not be accepted at the Center shall include, but not be limited to, the
following:

Agenda ltem #15.4

Page 56 of 99



1-a)Hazardous wasfe. Hazardous waste or material which the Town considers to be detrimental
to the operation of the Center or which require special handling or disposal procedures.

Zb)Other. Infectious, pathological and biological waste, radioactive materials, oil sludges,
hazardous refuse of any kind, or other substances which are now or are hereafter considered
harmful, inflammable, hazardous, or toxic, or which would pose a threat to health or safety, or
which may cause damage to or adversely affect the operation of the Center.

4c)Tires on rims.

7. Stumps and Logs. Also branches greater than three inches in diameter or three feet in length.

ENFORCEMENT
Use of Recycling and Transfer Facility

It is the intention of the Department to educate residents as to the value of recycling and the appropriate
procedures for doing so. lf, however, a resident, tenant or Hooksett Commercial Busrness violates any
provision of this section it may result in the issuance of notices, wamings and possible loss of privileges at
the facility.

sEeHoârtt

The Genter is operated and maintained in aeeordanee with RSA 1'19 M:17 sslely te reeeivq transpert;

Theee regulatiens h+ve been re€€mmended by the Reeyeling and Transfer Âdv¡€ery
Gemmittee and adopþd by the Tewn Ceuneil pursuant te the astheri{y granted the êesneil by RSA
149 M:'17; ll and 31 :39; l(f), These regulati€ns are intended te:

1, Prevent unautherized entranee inte and/er use efthe êenter;

?, Prehibit the dl

3, Centrel the disposal of autherized selid waste te faeilitate eemplianee witfr-eperating

@

+ne-Superinæn¿en+Crew ChiefCrew ChìefCrew Chlef

t€r{he-{ê{ew+ng-€sb j€€ts-

1, Separatien ef selid wastes andether materials;

SEETION III
U€E-€F€EN+E1R

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 57 of 99



ln the event the vehiele being used is net-registered in Heeksett, paperwerk diselesing the residential
M

lsecro¡¡ w
RECYCLING

The policy of the Center is to promote and encourage recycling within the Town. The recycling program
is intended to facilitate the reuse of resources, reduce operating costs through avoidance of tipping fee
rates, and prov¡de additional income to the Town (when applicable). Residents, who use the facility, will
be required to recycle cardboard. Cardboard is easily accepted in an area clearly marked. The recycling
of other materials is strongly encouraged.

sEc-HoN+
W

Selid waste whieh is allewed te be reeeived at ihe Genter in€ludes refueer oenstruetien debrie and

@
Clear demelitien will be aeeepted: eheetroek (rncst be kept separate) wsod' asphalt shinglee (musÈ r€

ed, Âpplianees with Freen will be kept separate,

Yard waste (grass elippings' garden waete' and leaves) msst be brought t€ the deeigeated area

+n9
1. Hazardeus Waste, Hazardess waste er materials whieh the Tewn eensiders te þe detrimental te the

eus

tæ

weuld be likely to pese a threat te health sr safet", er whieh may easse damage to ecadversely effeef the
epere+r€Fi€f+he_Cen ef.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 58 of 99



,1, Stumps; tegs, Stumpe and legs greater than three inehes in diameter erthree feet in length'

SECTION VI
PERMIT PROCEDURES

l. A-ln General.

Permits may be obtained during normal business hours at the Center, 210 West River Road, Hooksett,
New Hampshire. All permits shall be nontransferable. Each vehicle intended for transport of solid waste
to the Center must be permitted.

Permits must be prominently displayed on the window of the passenger side of the vehicle, which is
bearing solid waste to be disposed of at the Center.

I a) Residential.

I i Any person applying for a permit must present a vehicle reg¡stration showing residence in

the Town.

I ¡¡. Permits are issued free of charge.

I øl Commercial.

I i Any commercial entity must call the office for permission to enter the premises and have
proper identification of legal Hooksett address.

Permits will not be issued

Hooksett commercial entities, may use the facility only to bring in solid waste that is
generated in Hooksett.

ii.

¡¡¡.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

lz Revocation of Permit

I fhe Supe+intenAe* Crew Chief- may revoke the permit of any holder when a written finding is made that
the holder of the permit or the holder's agent has violated any provisions of these

I regulations or any regulations promulgated hereunder. The Superic+enden+Crew Chief will provide
written notice of the revocation to the holder of the permit by certified mail. Any person with such notice
of revocation may request a hearing before the Town Administrator within fifteen (15) days of the receipt
of such notice. The Town Administrator will affirm, reverse, or

I modify the action of the Superintendentârew Chief. The revocation of the permit will be stayed during
the pendency of the appeal.

SECTION VII
VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES

Any person or commercial entity violating any provision of this ordinance or any regulation adopted
pursuant to this Ordinance shall:

I t. a-be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $3 000 for each act constitutlng a violation of this
Ordinance or the regulations adopted pursuant hereto;

I Z. b--be subject to revocation of permission to use the Center;

Page 59 of 99



| ¡. e--be liable for all costs incurred by the Town resulting from the violation and enforcement
of this Ordinance, including attorney's fees; and,

I A. d-be liable for all costs of removal of solid waste improperly disposed of and all costs incurred by
the Town resulting from the improper disposal of waste at the Center.

lsecno¡¡ vrl
FEES

The following disposal fees (user fees) are designed to defray some of the expense incurred by the
Town in administering and operating the Center. This list is net meant te be all inelssive and edditional
infermatien lhe Town reserves the right to update fhese fees. Cunent Disposa/ Fees can be obtained by
calling the office at 603-669-5'198 or checking the website at www.hooksett.orq, an¿-e¡ee*mg-{€C€r-the
Recycling and Transfer-ÐepaÊmen+ Divi sion page.

Metal with-refigerants Fesident $11,00 / Cemrnereial $20,00)
@

eeeyeln9------No-fee

Selid WaÊte; Re6i

Vaø Waste, fee asse
Resident $0 / Gommereial $15

The following charges and restictions are in effect as of 10/25/2019. For current disposa/ fees, please
check the Town's webstte at vwwv.hooksett.orq or call 603-669-5198.

Construction / Demolition Debris - $0.05 per pound. $2.00 minimum load. (wood, insulation, bathroom
fixtures, cabinets, siding, flooring, roofing , etc.) No asbesfos or hazardous material will be accepted.
VINYL SIDING must be kept separate under 4' in length. ASPHALT SHr^/G¿ES must be kept
separate. SHEETROCK must be kept separate. Large plastic and fiberglass ftems must be cut up to
be less than 4'x 4'.

Fíll - $10 per load Concrete - Bricks - Asphalt - etc.

Furniture - $0.05 per pound All solid wood furniture - $0.05 per pound

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Twin/full mattresses
Queen maffresses
King mattresses
S/eep sofa
Loveseat

.s3.
$4
$5.
$7.
'$5.

00 a piece
00 a piece
00 a piece
00
00

Recliner
Stuffed Chair
Office Chair
Sofa

$5.00
$4.00
$2.00
86.00

Caryet - $0.05 per pound. (Must be cut into 3-4' square secflons)

Metal - Units with FREON (refr¡gerators, freezers, NC's, dehumidifiers) $1 1.00 per unit
White goods (washers, dryers, dishwashers, stoves, hot water heaters) $5.00 per unit
No charge other metal

Page 60 of 99



Electronics - $0.15 per pound (Electronics to include: copv machines. fax mach¡nes.)
Smatl computerdrivä ' $2.00 Personal printer ' ' $2.00
l3"computer monitor $5.00 Laptop $2.00
lT"coniputer monitor $7.00 lg"TV $9.0013'TV $4.00 All flat monitors under 20" 64.00
Call facility for other electronic fees.

Propane Tanks - 20 lb., $4.00 each; 30 lb., $8.00; 100 lb, $20.00; 1 lb., no charge

Recycling - No charge.

Tires - No charge for the first four tires per year per Hooksett registered vehicle, thereafter, a charge of
$2.00 foreach tire. Must be off rims.

Yard Waste - No charqe /eaves. orass. small amoùnts of brush - a limb fell. Please call ahead for
availabitity. Branches ¡ríust be ncí lãrger than 3" in diameter and 3' long. No land clearing, no tree cutting.
See attendant for list of place to go with larger loads, stumps, logs. INVASIVE PLANTS must be kept
separate. SEE ATTENDAJVL No slumps will be accepted.

Paint - $1.00 per can; $5.00 per 5 gallon bucket.

Any resident bringing mater¡al from outside Hookseltwìll have their perm¡t revoked,

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Adopted:
Amended:
Amended:
Amended:

6111197
3t10t10
10t8t2014
Town Council Meeting Date

James Sullivan
Town Council Chair

Todd Rainier
Town Clerk

Page 61 of99



Page 62 of 99



Recycling and Transfer Department Ordinance

This Policy is created to establish control of solid waste in the Town of Hooksett, implementing rules and regulat¡ons
for the operation of the Transfer and Recycling Center (Center), curbside collection of trash and recycling, and setting
of fees for the use of the facility. Control and regulation of solid waste will serve the public interest, protect health and
safety of Town residents and conserve our natural resources.

SECTION 1

DEFINITIONS AND WORD USAGE

As used in this Policy, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

ACCEPTABLE WASTE - Household garbage, trash, rubbish and refuse originating with¡n the boundaries of the
Town, normally collected or disposed of as a result of residential pickups or deliveries.

AUTOMATED COLLECTION - shall mean a method of collecting refuse and recycling through the use of mechan¡cal
collect¡on equipment and special carts issued for the storage and collection of rubbish and recyclables.

AUTOMATED COLLECT¡ON CART - shall mean a specially designed cart with wheels, approved by the Town of
Hooksett to be used for the storage of acceptable refuse or recyclables ¡n the automated collection operation.

COMMERCIAL - Commercial entities doing business in the Town of Hooksett including but not limited to contractors,
multifamily dwellings of more than four (4) units, commercial establ¡shments of any size .

CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS - Non-putrescible waste building materials and rubble

CURB LINE - shall mean the area directly behind or adjacent to the curb; in the absence of a curb, the area adjacent
to the edge of pavement or road.

CURBSIDE COLLECTION - shall mean the p¡ckup of acceptable trash and recyclables at certain residences in the
Town

CUSTOMER - shall mean any resident who delivers waste to the facility or receives trash and or recycling service
from the Town

DEMOLITION WASTE - See Construction Debris

DESIGNATED COLLECTION POINT - shall mean the place where the automated cart shall be placed for service, as
determined by the Recycling and Transfer Department.

EXTRA REFUSE - shall mean any refuse placed on, or around automated collection cart in excess capacity of the
automated cart.

HAZARDOUS WASTE - shall mean any material which has been identifìed as hazardous waste by the New
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services. Such wastes include, but are not limited to, those which are
ignitable, irritants, or strong sensitizers, orwhich generate pressure through decomposition, heat, or other means.
Such term also encompasses any solid, semisolid, liquid or contained gaseous waste, or any combination of these
wastes which, because of e¡ther quantity, concentratlon, or physical, chemical or infectious characteristics may: a)
cause or contribute to an ¡ncrease in mortality or an increase in irreversible or incapacitat¡ng reversible illness; and/or
b) pose a present or potent¡al threat to humans or the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported,
disposed of, or otherwise mismanaged.

HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE - hazardous waste generated from non-commercial usage by persons ¡n their
living abodes.

INFECTIOUS WASTE - Any waste which, because of its infectious nature, may cause or sign¡ficantly contribute to an
increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible or incapacitating reversible illness, or pose a substantial

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 63 of 99



present or potential hazard to human health or the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported,
disposed of, or otherwise managed.

MANDATORY - Off¡cially required

METAL GOODS (METAL). Metal goods include household appliances, air conditioners, aluminum lawn chairs,
aluminum windows, outside grills, hot water tanks, and other metallic items that can be readily recycled and
marketed.

MOTOR VEHICLE WASTE - Used motor o¡1, motor vehicle batter¡es, antifreeze, and tires from motorized vehicles

MULTI-FAMILY RSIDENTIAL PROPERTY - shall mean more than one (1) but not more than four (4) dwelling un¡ts
in a building.

RECYCLABLE - Any item within the town recycling program which can be recycled with the intent of reusing that
item

RECYCLING -The collection, storage process¡ng, and redistribut¡on of separated solid waste as to return mater¡al to
the marketplace.

REFUSE - Any solid waste product which is composed wholly or partly of such materials as garbage, swill,
sweepings, cleanings, trash, rubbish, litter, industrial solid wastes, organic wastes, and domestic solid wastes.

RESIDENT - a person who is domiciled or has a place of abode ¡n the Town of Hooksett and who has, through all of
his or her actions, demonstrated a current intent to designate that place ofabode as his or her principal place of
physical presence for the indef¡nite future to the exclusion of all others.

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY - shall mean a single-family or multi-family housing building that consists of four (4) or
fewer dwelling units.

SOLID WASTE - Any matter consisting of putrescible material, refuse, and other discarded or abandoned material. lt
includes sol¡d, liquid, semisolid, orcontained gaseous material resulting from ¡ndustrial, commercial, mining and
agricultural operations and from community activities. For the purposes of this Ordinance, it does not include
hazardous waste as defined in RSAI4TA:2 or infectious waste as defined in this Secfion.

USER FEE - A charge, usually by a municipality, to users of a service.

YARD WASTE - Leaves, grass clippings, weeds, hedge clippings, garden waste, and tw¡gs

SECTION II

CURBSI DE AUTOMATED COLLECTION

It shall be required for curbside collection in the Town of Hooksett that all designated recyclable materials will be
separated from the solid waste stream and disposed of in the approved recycling containers, either at the curb-side,
in the mobile recycl¡ng tra¡ler or ât the Recycling and Transfer Center . The reason for separation is to help control
the costs associated with the d¡sposal and management of solid waste by diverting as many recyclables from the
solid waste stream as possible. The listing of acceptable materials will be available atthe Recycling and Transfer
Center, or online at www.hooksett.orq under the Recycling and Transfer Department.

The purpose of this section is to establish minimum standards for the storage, collection, transportation and
disposal of solid waste and recycling, utilizing an automated collection program to promote the health, safety
, and welfare of the Town's residents, employees and environmenl, and to minimize the amount of trash
generated in the Town.

b. The Superintendent shall have the direct responsibility for the administration of this section subject to the
direction and control of the Town Administrator and the Town Council.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 64 of 99



The Town will provide curbside collect¡on of residential sol¡d waste from public schools, municipal buildings
single family dwellings, multi-family dwellings (not more than 4 units)

Agenda ltem #15.4.

d, Two automated collection carts, one for trash, one for recycling, and instructions for use will be distributed
for residents who receive collection services from the Town. Additional recycling carts may be issued in

certain circumstances, upon recommendation of the Superintendent, determination will be made on a case
by case situation by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee.

e. lt will be the res¡dent's responsibility to assure that automated collection carts are placed in the appropr¡ate
location designated by the Town, by 7:00 am on collection day. The Superintendent or his/her designee
shall have the authority to review and approve or disapprove placement of the collection carts. Alternative
sites may be necessary to safeguard public safety and minimize risk of damage to public or private property
during the collection process.

It is the resident's responsibil¡ty to remove the automated cart from the curb line by the end of the collection
day.

S lt is prohibited to overload automated carts in a manner that is likely to cause damage to the collection
vehicle,theautomatedcartortocreatealitterconditionorto¡mpedecollection. ltshall beaninfractionto
place or deposit any refuse whatsoever in or around an automated cart owned or provided for the use of
another customer without that customer's approval.

h. The Town shall not be responsible for collection if there are any ¡nfract¡ons of any section of this policy, or if
there are any circumstances that are beyond the control of the Town. lnfractions or circumstances include,
but are not limited to, automated cart overload, unacceptable materials, improperly loaded automated cart,
blocked access, automated cart inaccessibility, improper carts or dangerous situations.

¡. Automated Carts:

1. All automated carts are the property ofthe Town of Hooksett and are not to be removed
from the property even in the event of a change in ownership or resident status. All
automated carts will be assigned to a street address and have an imprinted number for
identification purposes. One cart shall be used for trash and one cart for mixed
recyclables.

2. Any repairs to the containers will be performed by the Town. The property
owner/customer shall contact the Recycling and Transfer offìce to report damage and
requestarepa¡r. Containersdamagedbeyondrepairwill bereplacedbytheTown. lfthe
containers are subject to neglect or other preventable damage as determined by the
Superintendent, the Superintendent will require a charge for the replacement. The
property owners are the ultimate party respons¡ble for all damages or removed
containers by tenants. The owner shall pay the cost of $50.00 for any replacement
containers. The owner should work to educate the household members on the proper
use and ma¡ntenance ofthe containers.

3. All trash and recyclables shall be placed into the appropriate conta¡ners so that the lid
can be securely shut. No trash or recyclables placed on the ground or in any
unapproved containers shall be picked-up by the town. The containers shall not be
overfìlled orarranged in any mannerthatwill preventthe lid from remaining closed at all
times to prevent water from filling the container, and access by animals. ln the event of
overflow, res¡dents may bring the extra material to the facil¡ty or must wait till the next
scheduled collection day.

j, Placement of Carts
It shall be the duty of each customer to place the carts as follows

Page 65 of 99



1 . Within two (2) feet of the curb line or where directed by the Town.
2. At least five (5) feet away from all objects such as fences, mailboxes, and utility poles,

and clear of overhang¡ng vegetation, utility wires, etc. to allow for the unimpeded operation
of collection vehicles.

3. So that the automated cart handle is facing the dwelling unit.
4. At least two (2) feet from the other cart.
5. At least ten (10) feet away from parked vehicles.

k. Approved Materials for Automated Curbside Collection
1. All approved recvclables shall be placed in the containers loose. No plastic bags should be

recycled or used to conta¡n recyclable material. The complete list of acceptable recyclables will
be prepared by the Superintendent and distributed to all residents. The list shall be available
on the website at www.hooksett.orq or at the Recycling and Transfer Department. The list may
be modified given market conditions or other factors. Recyclable materials, such as cereal
boxes, and cardboard boxes should be flattened so that the recycling container does not
become overfìlled too quickly during a given collect¡on week. All recyclable items shall be
empty

2. All household trash must be baoqed before placing into the trash container. All materials
must be separated and placed into the appropriate containerfor the automated curbside
program.

3. ONLY recyclables and household trash will be collected at the curb. All other material for
disposal must be brought to the Recycling and Transfer Center at 210 West R¡ver Rd.

ENFORCEMENT
Section ll Collection

It is the intention of the Department to educate res¡dents as to the value of recycling and the appropriate procedures
fordoingso. lf,however,aresidentortenantviolatesanyprovisionofthissection(Sectionll) itmayresultinthe
issuance of notices, warnings and possible loss of serv¡ces.

FirstViolation-Acourtesynotlcewill beissued. lftheviolationisthedisposal ofanyunacceptablemater¡al,thecost
ofdisposal (user fee) may be incurred.

SecondViolation-Awrittenwarningwill beissued. lftheviolationisthedisposal ofanyunacceptablematerlal the
cost of the disposal (user fee) will be incurred.

Th¡rd V¡olation - A third violation will result in the loss of collection privileges, for an amount of time determined by the
Superintendent, with approval by the Town Adm¡nistrator. The v¡olator shall have the right to appeal to the Town
Counc¡1.

SECTION III

CONDOMINIUMS

Condominiums will be required to provide for the collection and disposal of domest¡c trash w¡thin their communities.
The Town w¡ll reimburse tonnage at a maximum of 21 pounds per un¡t per week at the Town budgeted rate (for trash
disposal), paid semi-annually, upon submiss¡on and verification of paid invoices bythe condominium association.
The Town may rescind or amend this section at any time.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 66 of 99



SECTION IV

RECYCLING AND TRANSFER CENTER

The Center is operated and maintained in accordance with RSA '149-M:17 solely to receive, transport, and
d¡spose of authorized solid waste generated within the geographical boundaries of the Town.

These regulations have been recommended by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory Commiüee and
adopted by the Town Council pursuant to the authority granted lhe Council by RSA 149-M:17, ll and 31:39, I (f).

These regulations are intended to:
l. Prevent unauthorized entrance into and/or use ofthe Center;
2. Prohibit the disposal of illegal and/or unacceptable waste;
3. Control the d¡sposal of authorized solid waste to fac¡l¡tate compliance with operating standards,

improve effìciency and productivity, require recycling and reuse of our resources, and
maximize the life of the Center; and

4. Establish perm¡t procedures.

The Superintendent of the Center is authorized to promulgate additional regulations subject to the approval
of the Town Council which may ¡nclude, but are not limited to, the following subjects:

1. Separation of solid wastes and other materials;
2. lnspectionprocedures;
3. Hours of operation; and
4. Establishing fees.

USE OF CENTER

It is mandatory, that residents, who use the facility to drop off material, will separate all designated
recyclable materials from the solid waste stream and dispose of them in the approved recycling containers. The
reason for separation ¡s to help conlrol the costs associated w¡th the disposal and management of solid waste by
diverting as many recyclables from the solid waste stream as possible. The listing of acceptable materials will be
available at the Recycling and Transfer Center, or online at www.hooksett.orq under the Recycling and Transfer
Department.

A. Permit Required.
Permits will be issued for all residents who use the facility if the vehicle is registered in
Hooksett. Residents who do not have a registered vehicle must show proof of residency
in the way of a tax bill or license with Hooksett address.

B. Removal of material
No material shall be removed from the Center without authorization.

C. Designated Areas
Solid waste shall be disposed of only in the designated areas.

D. Unauthorized Entry
No person shall enter or attempt to enter the Center at times other than during the posted operat¡ng

hours.

E. Acceptable Solid Waste
Solid waste wh¡ch is allowed to be received at the Center includes refuse, recycling, construction

debris and demolition waste, motor vehicle waste, yard waste, residential brush, appliances, and scrap
metal. UsClfeCs_rn-ay_apply. See website at www.hooksett.orq or call facility 669-5198.

1. Clean demol¡tion, wood, sheetrock(kept separate), asphalt shingles (kept separate)
2. Furniture
3. Metal items and appliances will be accepted. Appliances with freon will be kept separately
4. Yard Waste (grass clippings, garden waste, leaves and branches no largerthan 3" in diameter)

must be brought to the des¡gnated area (compost pile). Yard waste brought in plastic bags
must be emptied.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 67 of 99



5. Some household hazardous wastes may be brought to the facility. Residents need to contact
the facil¡ty to determine ¡f ¡t can be accepted.

F. Unacceptable Solid Waste
Materials which will not be accepted at the Center shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. Hazardous waste. Hazardous waste or material which the Town considers to be detrimental to
the operation of the Center or which require special handling or disposal procedures.

2. Other. lnfectious, pathological and biological waste, radioactive mater¡als, oil sludges,
hazardous refuse of any kind, or other substances which are now or are hereaffer considered
harmful, inflammable, hazardous, or toxic, or which would pose a threat to health or safety, or
wh¡ch may cause damage to or adversely affect the operation of the Center.

3. Tires on rims.
G. StumpsandLogs. Alsobranchesgreaterthanthreeinchesindiameterorthreefeetinlength.

ENFORCEMENT
Use of Recycling and Transfor Facility

It is the intention of the Department to educate res¡dents as to the value of recycling and the appropr¡ate procedures
for doing so. lf, however, a res¡dent, tenant or Hooksett Commerc¡al Business violates any provis¡on of this section
(Section lV) it may result in the issuance of notices, warnings and possible loss of privileges at the facility.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 68 of 99



SOLID WASTE
ORDINANCE # OO-3I

The Town of Hooksett orda¡ns that, pursuant to the authority granted under Section 3.6 of
the Hooksett Town Charter, the following ordinance is hereby enacted in the Town of Hooksett:

INTRODUCTION

An Ordinance is hereby created establishing control of solid waste in the Town of Hooksett
(Town), ¡mplementing rules and regulations for the operation of the Transfer and Recycling
Center (Center), and sett¡ng fees for the use of the facilities thereof.

Whereas, the control and regulation of solid waste will serve the public ¡nterest, protect the
health and safety ofTown residents, and conserve our natural resources, and,

Whereas the Town has authority pursuant to State law and the Town Charter to establish
rules and regulations for the control of solid waste, to establish permit regulations, and to
prescribe penalties for the v¡olations thereof, and

Whereas it is necessary to establish the rules and regulations for the acceptance of solid
waste, therefore be it ordained by the Town of Hooksett, the County of Merrimack, and the
State of New Hampshire, that a solid waste ordinance is hereby established setting forth
regulations governing the use of the Center and requiring that perm¡ts be obtained and fees
paid.

SECTION 1

DEFINITIONS AND WORD USAGE

As used in this Ord¡nance, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

CENTER. The Town of Hooksett Transfer and Recycling Center situated off Route 34.

COMMERCIAL. Any and all nonresidential activities.

CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS. Non-putrescible waste building materials and rubble.

DEMOLITION WASTE. See Construction Debris.

DISPOSAL. The d¡scharge, deposit, injection, dump¡ng, spilling, leaking, or placement of any solid
waste into or onto any land or water so that such solid waste or any constituent of ¡t may enter the
environment, be emitted into the air, or be discharged into any water, including groundwater.

HMARDOUS WASTE. Any material which has been identif¡ed as hazardous waste by the New
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services. Such wastes include, but are not limited to.
those which are ignitable, irritants, or strong sensilizers, orwhich generate pressure through
decomposition, heat, or other means. Such term also encompasses any solid, semisolid, liquid or
contained gaseous waste, or any combination ofthese wastes which, because of e¡ther quantity,

concentration, or physical, chemical or infectious characteristics may: a) cause or contr¡bute to an
increase in mortal¡ty or an increase in irreversible or incapac¡tating reversible illness; and/or b) pose

a present or potential threat to humans or the environment when improperly treated, stored,
transported, disposed of, or otherwise mismanaged.

INFECTIOUS WASTE, Any waste which, because of its infectious nature, may cause or s¡gnifìcantly
contr¡bute to an ¡ncrease in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible or incapacitating reversible
illness, or pose a substantial present or potent¡al hazard to human health or the environment when
improperly treated, stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise managed.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

7t

Page 69 of 99



HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE. Hazardous waste generated from non-commercial usage by
persons in their living abodes.

METAL GOODS (METAL). Metal goods include household appliances, airconditioners, aluminum
lawn cha¡rs, aluminum windows, outside grills, hot water tanks, and other metallic items that can be
readily recycled and marketed.

MOTOR VEHICLE WASTE. Used motor oil, motor vehicle batteries, antifreeze, and tires from
motorized vehicles.

RECYCLABLES. Any item within the Town recycling program which can be recycled with the intent
of reusing that item.

RECYCLING. The collection, storage processing, and redistribution of separated sol¡d waste so as
to return material to the marketplace.

REFUSE. Any solid waste product which is composed wholly or partly of such materials as
garbage, swill, sweepings, cleanings, trash, rubbish, litter, industrial sol¡d wastes, organic wastes
and domestic solid wastes.

RESIDENT. A person who ¡s domiciled or has a place of abode in the Town of Hooksett and who
has, through all of his or her actions, demonstrated a current intent to designate that place of abode
as his or her principal place of physical presence for the indefinite future.to the exclusion of all
others.

SOLID WASTE. Any matter consisting of putrescible material, refuse, and other discarded or
abandoned material. lt includes solid, liquid, semisolid, or contained gaseous material resulting from
industrial, commercial, mining, and agricultural operations and from communily activ¡t¡es. For the
purposes of this Ordinance, it does not include hazardous waste as defìned in RSA 1474:2,
¡nfectious waste as def¡ned in this Section, solid ordissolved materials and irrigation return flows, or
municipal and industrial discharges which are point sources subject to perm¡ts under Section 402 of
the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, or source special nuclear or by-product
material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended. Solid waste includes municipal
solid waste (MSW) as defined ¡n State Solid Waste Rule ENV-Wm 103.23.

USER FEE. A charge usually by a municipality to users of a service.

YARD WASTE. Leaves, grass clippings, weeds, hedge cl¡ppings, garden waste, and twigs

SECTION II

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY AUTHORITY

The Center is operated and maintained in accordance with RSA 149-M:17 solely to rece¡ve
transport, and dispose of authorized solid waste generated within the geographical boundaries of
the Town.

These regulations have been recommended by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory
Committee and adopted by the Town Council pursuant to the authority granted the Council by RSA
149-M:17,ll and 31:39, l(f). These regulations are intended to:

1. Prevent unauthorized entrance into and/or use of the Center:

2. Prohibit the disposal of ¡llegal and/or unacceptable solid waste;

3. Control the disposal of authorized solid waste to facilitate compliance with operating
standards, improve efficiency and productivity, encourage recycling and reuse of our resources, and
maximize the life of the Center; and

Agenda ltem #15.4.

4. Establish permit procedures.

72

Page 70 of 99



U.

D.

The Superintendent of the Center is authorized to promulgate additional regulations subject
to the approval of the Town Council which may include, but are not limited to, the following subjects:

''1. Separation of solid wastes and other materials

2. lnspectionprocedures;

3. Hours of operation; and

4. Establishing fees.
SECTION III
USE OF CENTER

A. Permit Requ¡red

No resident shall dispose of solid waste at the Center without having obta¡ned a permit for
such activig. ln the event the vehicle being used is not registered in Hooksett, paperwork disclosing
lhe residential address must be submitted.

B. Removal of Mater¡al

No mater¡al shall be removed from the Center without authorization.

Des¡gnated Areas

Sol¡d waste shall be disposed of only in designated areas.

Unauthorized Entry

No person shall enter or attempt to enter the Center at times other than dur¡ng
posted operating hours.

SECTION IV
RECYCLING

The policy of the Center is to promole and encourage recycling within the Town. The
recycling program is intended to facil¡tate the reuse of resources, reduce operating costs through
avoidance of tipping fee rates, and provide addit¡onal ¡ncome to the Town (when applicable).
Residents, who use the facility, will be required to recycle cardboard. Cardboard is easily accepted
in an area clearly marked. The recycling of other mater¡als is strongly encouraged.

SECTION V
SOLID WASTE POLICIES

A. Acceptable Solid Waste

Solid waste which is allowed to be received at the Center includes refuse,
construct¡on debris and demolition waste, motor vehicle waste, yard waste
residential brush, appliances, and scrap metal. User fees may apply, see
Section Vlll.

Clean demolition will be accepted: sheetrock (must be kept separate) wood, asphalt
shingles (must be kept separate), and bricks (must be kept separate).

Metal items and appliances will be accepted. Appliances with Freon will be kept separate.

Yard waste (grass clippings, garden waste, and leaves) must be brought to the designated
area (compost pile) and must be free from branches. Material brought in plastic bags must be
emptied.

Agenda ltem #15.4

73

Page 71 of99



Some household hazardous wastes may be brought to the facility. Residents need to
contact the facility to determine if it can be accepted.

Unacceptable Solid Waste

Materials which will not be accepted at the Center shall include, but not be
lim¡ted to, the following:

1. Hazardous Waste. Hazardous waste or materials which the Town considers to be
detrimental to the operation of the Center or which requ¡re special handling or disposal
procedures.

2. Other. Infectious, pathological and biological waste, radioactive materials, oil sludges,
hazardous refuse of any kind, or other substances which are now or are hereafter
considered harmful, inflammable, hazardous, or toxic, or which would otheM¡se not
normally be allowed for burial under New Hampshire Department of Environmental
Services or U.S. Environmental Protection Agency regulat¡ons, orwhich would be likely
to pose a threat to health or safety, orwhich may cause damage to or adversely arTecf
the operation of the Center.

3. T¡res on Rims. Also see Section Vll, Fees.

4. Stumps; Logs. Stumps and logs greater than three inches ¡n diameter orthree feet in

length.

Agenda ltem #15.4.

SECTION VI
PERMIT PROCEDURES

A. ln General.

Permits may be obtained during normal business hours at the Center, 210 West
River Road, Hooksett, New Hampshire.

All permits shall be nontransferable.

Each veh¡cle intended for transport of solid waste to the Center must be
permitted.

Permits must be prominently displayed on the w¡ndow of the passenger side of
the vehicle, which is bearing solid waste to be disposed of at the Center.

1. Res¡dential.

Any person apply¡ng for a permit must present a vehicle registration showing
residence in the Town.

b. Permits are issued free of charge.

2. Commercial.

a. Any commerc¡al ent¡ty must call the off¡ce for perm¡ssion lo enter the premises and
have proper identification of legal Hooksett address.
Perm¡ts will not be issued

b. Hooksett commercial entities, may use the facility only to bring in solid waste that is
generated in Hooksett.

B. Revocation of Permit
'74

Page 72 of 99



The Superintendent may revoke the perm¡t of any holder when a written finding is made that
the holder of the permit orthe holder's agent has violated any provisions of these
regulations or any regulations promulgated hereunder. The Superintendent will provide
written notice of the revocation to the holder of the permit by certif¡ed mail. Any person with
such notice of revocation may request a hearing before the Town Administrator within fifteen
(15) days of the receipt of such notice. TheTown Administratorwill afürm, reverse, or
modify the action of the Superintendent. The revocation of the permit will be stayed during
the pendency ofthe appeal.

SECTION VII
VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES

Any person or commercial ent¡ty violating âny provision of this ordinance or any regulation
adopted pursuant to this Ordinance shall:

a. be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $3,000 for each act constituting a violation of
this Ordinance orthe regulations adopted pursuant hereto;

b. be subject to revocat¡on of permission to use the center;

c. be liable for all costs incurred by the Town resulting from the violation and enforcement
of this Ordinance, including attorney's fees; and,

d. be liable for all costs of removal of solid waste improperly disposed of and all costs
incurred by the Town resulting fom the improper disposal of waste at the Center.

sEcTroN vlll
FEES

The following disposal fees (user fees) are designed to defray some of the expense incurred
bythe Town in administering and operating the Center. This list is not meant to be all inclusive and
additional information can be obtained by calling the ofüce at 669-5198 or checking the website at
www.hooksett.orq and checking under the Recycling and Transfer Department.

Demol¡tion. $100.00 per ton.

Furniture. $100.00 per ton.

Caroet. $100.00 per ton (must be cut into 4' lengths)

Electonics. $.11 per pound

Commercial $20

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Fee assessed per unit.
Metal with refrlgerants Resident $l 1.00
Appliances (per unit) $5 00

Recycling
No fee

Solid Waste. Resident $0

Tires (not on r¡ms)

Commercial $100 per ton

15

Page 73 of 99



Resident- No charge for the first four t¡res(passenger tires) per year per registered Hooksett
vehicle, thereafter a charge of $2 foreach tire. Not accepted fom commercial entitles.

Yard Waste. Fee assessed per load, one-ton truck.
Resident $0 Commercial, $15

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Adopted:
Amended:
Amended:

6t't'U97
3t10t't0
'tot8t2014

James Sullivan
Town Council Chair

Todd Rainier
Town Clerk

76

Page 74 of 99



S€ÈTÈWASTE RECYCLING & TRAA/SFER
ORDINANCE # OO-3I

The Town of Hooksett ordains that, pursuant to the authority granted under Section 3.6 of the Hooksett
Iown Charter, the following ordinance is hereby enacted in the Town of Hooksett:

INTRODUCTION

An Ordinance is hereby created establishing control of solid waste in the Town of Hooksett (Town),
implementing rules and regulations for the operation of the Transfer and Recycling and Transfer Center
(Center), curbside collection of trash and setting fees for the use of the facilities thereof.

Whereas, the control and regulation of solid waste will serve the public interest, protect the health and
safety of Town residents, and conserve our natural resources, and,

Whereas the Town has authority pursuant to State law and the Town Charter to establish rules and
regulations for the control of solid waste, to establish permit regulations, and to prescribe penalties for
the violations thereof, and

Whereas it is necessary to establish the rules and regulations for the acceptance of solid waste,
therefore be it ordained by the Town of Hooksett, the County of Merrimack, and the State of New
Hampshire, that a solid waste ordinance is hereby established setting forth regulations governing the use
of the Center and requiring that permits be obtained and fees paid.

SECTION 1

DEFINITIONS AND WORD USAGE

As used in this Ordinance, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

ACCEPTABLE WASTE - Household garbage, trash, rubbish and refuse originating within the boundaries
of the Town, normally collected or disposed of as a result of residential pickups or deliveries.

AUTOMATED COLLECTION - shall mean a method of collecting refuse and recycling through the use of
mechanical collection equipment and special carfs lssued for the storage and collection of rubbish and
recyclables.

AUTOMATED COLLECTION CART - shall mean a specially designed carf with wheels, approved by the
Town of Hooksett to be used for the storage of acceptable refuse or recyclables in the automated
collection operation.

CENTER. The Town of Hooksett Transfer and Recycling and Transfer Center situated off Route 34.

COMMERCIAL. Any and all nonresidential activities.

CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS. Non-putrescible waste building materials and rubble.

CURB LINE - shall mean the area directly behind or adjacent to the curb; in the absence of a curb, the
area adjacent to the edge of pavement or road.

CURB9DE COLLECTION - shall mean the pickup of acceptable trash and recyclables at ceda¡n
residences in the Town

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 75 of 99



CUSTOMER - shall mean any res¡dent who delivers waste to the facility or receives trash and or recycling
service from the Town

DEMOLITION WASTE. See Construction Debris.

DESIGNATED COLLECTION POINT - shall mean the place where the automated cart shall be placed for
service, as determ¡ned by the Recycling and Transfer Department.

DISPOSAL. The discharge, deposit, injection, dumping, spilling, leaking, or placement of any solid
waste into or onto any land or water so that such solid waste or any constituent of it may enter the
environment, be emitted into the air, or be discharged into any water, including groundwater.

EXTRA REFUSE - shall mean any refuse placed on, or around automated collection cañ in excess
capacity of the automated cart.

HAZARDOUS WASTE. Any material which has been identified as hazardous waste by the New
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services. Such wastes include, but are not limited to, those
which are ignitable, irritants, or strong sensitizers, or which generate pressure through decomposition,
heat, or other means. Such term also encompasses any solid, semisolid, liquid or contained gaseous
waste, or any combination of these wastes which, because of either quantity, concentration, or physical,
chemical or infectious characteristics may: a) cause or contribute to an increase in mortality or an
increase in irreversible or incapacitating reversible illness; and/or b) pose a present or potential threat to
humans or the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise
mismanaged.

HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE - hazardous waste generated from non-commercial usage by
persons in their living abodes.

INFECTIOUS WASTE. Any waste which, because of its infectious nature, may cause or significantly
contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible or incapacitating reversible
illness, or pose a substantial present or potential hazard to human health or the env¡ronment when
improperly treated, stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise managed.

MANDATORY - Officially required

METAL GOODS (METAL). Metal goods include household appliances, air conditioners, aluminum lawn
chairs, aluminum windows, outside grills, hot water tanks, and other metallic items that can be readily
recycled and marketed.

MOTOR VEHICLE WASTE. Used motor oil, motor vehicle batteries, antifreeze, and tires from motorized
vehicles.

MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY - shall mean more than one (1) but not more than three (3)

dwelling units in a building.

RECYCLABLES. Any item within the Town recycling program which can be recycled with the intent of
reusing that item.

RECYCLING. The collection, storage processing, and redistribution of separated solid waste so as to
return material to the marketplace.

REFUSE. Any solid waste product which is composed wholly or partly of such materials as garbage,
swill, sweepings, cleanings, trash, rubbish, litter, industrial solid wastes, organic wastes, and domestic

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 76 of 99



sol¡d wastes

RESIDENT. A person who is domiciled or has a place of abode in the Town of Hooksett and who has,
through all of his or her actions, demonstrated a current intent to designate that place of abode as his or
her principal place of physical presence for the indefinite future to the exclusion of all others.

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY - shall mean a single-family or multi-family housing building that consìsts of
three (3) or fewer dwelling units.

SOLID WASTE. Any matter consisting of putrescible material, refuse, and other discarded or abandoned
material. lt includes solid, liquid, semisolid, or contained gaseous material resulting from industrial,
commercial, mining, and agricultural operations and from community activ¡ties. For the purposes of this
Ordinance, it does not include hazardous waste as defined in RSA 1474:2,
infectious waste as defined in this Section, solid or dissolved materials and irrigation return flows, or
municipal and industrial discharges which are point sources subject to permits under Section 402 of the
Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, or source special nuclear or by-product material as
defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended. Solid waste includes municipal solid waste
(MSW) as defined in State Solid Waste Rule ENV-Wm 103.23.

USER FEE. A charge usually by a municipality to users of a service.

YARD WASTE. Leaves, grass clippings, weeds, hedge clippings, garden waste, and twigs.

sEcTtoN il
C U RB SI D E AUTOMAT ED C O LLECTI O N

It shall be required for curbside collection in the Town of Hooksett that all designated recyclable materials
wilt be separated from the solid waste stream and disposed of in the approved recycling containers, either
at the curb-side or at the Recycling and Transfer Center. The reason for separation is to help control the
cosfs assoclaf ed with the disposal and management of solid waste by diverfing as many recyclables from
the solid waste stream as posslb/e. The listing of acceptable materials will be available at the Recycling
and Transfer Center, or online at www.hooksett.oro under the Recycling and Transfer Department.

The purpose of this section is to establish minimum standards for the storage, collection,
transportation and disposal of solid waste and recycling, utilizing an automated collection
program to promote the health, safety , and welfare of the Town's resldenfs, employees and
environment, and to minimize the amount of trash generated in the Town.

2. The Crew Chief shall have the direct responsibility for the administration of this section subject to
the direction and control of the Town Administrator and the Town Council.

3. The Town will provide curbside collection of residential solid waste from municipal buildings,
single family dwellings, multi-family dwellings (not more than 3 units)

4. Two automated collection carls, one for trash, one for recycling, and instructions for use will be
distributed for residents who receive collection seryices from the Town. Additional recycling carfs
may be lssued in certain circumsfances, upon recommendation of the Crew Chief, determination
will be made on a case by case situation by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee.

5. lt will be the resìdent's responstbility to assure that automated collection carts are placecl in the
appropriate location designated by the Town, by 7:00 am on collection day. The Crew Chief or
his/her designee shall have the authority to review and approve or disapprove placement of the
collection carfs. Alternaflye sftes may be necessary to safeguard public safety and minimize risk
of damage to public or private property during the collection process.

Agenda ltem #15.4

Page 77 of 99



6. lf ls the resident's responsibility to remove the automated ca¡7 from the curb line by the end of the
collection day.

7. lt is prohibited to overload automated cañs in a manner that is likely to cause damage to the
collection vehicle, the automated cart or to create a litter condition or to impede collection. lt shall
be an infraction to place or deposit any refuse whatsoever in or araund an automated carl owned
or provided for the use of another customer w¡thout that customer's approval.

8. The Town shall not be responsible for collection if there are any infractions of any sect¡on of th¡s
policy, or if there are any circumstances that are beyond the control of the Town. Infractions or
circumstances include, but are not limited to, automated cart overload, unacceptable materials,
impraperly loaded automated carl, blocked access, automated ca¡f inaccessibility, improper carls
or dangerou s situ ations.

I S. Automated Carts:

1-a)All automated carts are the property of the Town of Haoksett and are not to be removed from
the property even ¡n the event of a change in ownership or resident status. All automated
carts will be assigned to a street address and have an imprinted number for identification
purposes. One cart shall be used for trash and one carT for mixed recyclables.

%b)Any repairs to the containers will be performed by the Town. The properly owner/customer
shall contact the Recycling and Transfer office to report damage and request a repair.
Containers damaged beyond repair will be replaced by the Town. lf the containers are
subject to neglect or other preventable damage as determined by the Crew Chief, the Crew
Chief will require a charge for the replacement. The propeñy owners are the ultimate parly
responsible for all damages or removed containers by tenants. The owner shall pay the cost
of $50.00 for any replacement containers. The owner should work to educate the household
members on the proper use and maintenance of the containers.

c) All trash and recyclables shall be placed into the appropriate containers so that the lid can be
securely shut. No trash or recyclables placed on the ground or in any unapproved containers
shall be pìcked-up by the town. The containers shall not be ove¡filled or arranged in any
manner that will prevent the lid from remaining closed at all times to prevent water from filling
the container, and access by animals. ln the event of overflow, residents may bing the extra
material to the facility or must waìt till the next scheduled collection day.

10. Placement of Carts - lt shall be the duty of each customer to place the carts as follows:

1-a)Within two (2) feet of the curb line or where directed by the Town.

Zb)At least five (5) feet away from all objects such as fences, mailboxes, and utility poles,
and clear of overhanging vegetation, utility wires, etc. to allow for the unimpeded operation of
collection vehicles.

*c) So that the automated cart handle is facing the dwelling unit.

4d)At íeast two (2) feet from the other carl.

e) At least ten (10) feet away from parked vehicles.

+1 1 Approved Materials for Automated Curbside Collection

1-a)All approved recvclables shall be placed in the containers /oose. /Vo plastic bags should be
recycled or used to contain recyclable material. The complete |ist of acceptable recyclables
will be prepared by the Crew Chief and distributed to all residents. The list shall be available

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 78 of 99



on the webs¡te at www.hooksett.ors or at the Recycling and Transfer Deparlment. The list
may be modified given market conditions or other factors. Recyclable materials, such as
cereal boxes, and cardboard boxes should be flattened so that the recycling container does
not become overfilled too quickly during a given collection week. All recyclable items shall be
empty

Zb)All household trash must be baqqed before placing into the trash container. All materials
must be separated and placed into the appropriate container for the automated curbside
program.

c) ONLY recyclables and household trash will be collected at the curb. All other material for
disposal must be brought to the Recycling and Transfer Center at 210 West River Rd.

ENFORCEMENT
COLLECTION

It is the intention of the Depañment to educate residents as to the value of recycling and the appropriate
procedures for doing so. lf, however, a resident or tenant violates any provision of thìs section (Section ll)
it may result in the issuance of notices, warnings and possible ioss of services.

First Violation - A courfesy notice will be rssued. lf the violation rs fhe disposal of any unacceptable
m.aterial, the cost of disposal (user fee) may be incurred.

Second Violation - A written warning will be issued. lf the violation ts fhe dþosal of any unacceptable
material the cost of the disposal (user fee) will be incurred.

Third Violation - A third violation will result in the loss of collection privileges, for an amount of time
determined by the Crew Chief, with approval by the Town Administrator. The violator shall have the right
to appeal to the Town Council.

SECTION III
CONDOMINIUMS

Condominiums will be required to provide for the collection and disposal of domestic trash within their
communities. The Town witl reimburse tonnage at a maximum of 21 pounds per unit per week at the Town
budgeted rate (fortrash disposal), paid semi-annually, upon submlsslon and venfication of paid invoices by
the condominium association. The Town may rescind or amend this section at any time.

sEcTtoN tv
RECYCLING AND TRANSFER CENTER

The Center is operated and maintained in accordance with RSA 149-M:17 solely to receive, transporf, and
dlspose of authorized solid waste generated within the geographical boundaies of the Town.

These regulations have been recommended by the Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee and
adopted by the Town Council pursuant to the authority granted the Council by RSA 149-M:17, ll and
31 :39, I (f). These regulations are intended to:

1. Prevent unauthorized entrance into and/or use of the Center;
2. Prohibit the disposal of illegal and/or unacceptable waste;
3. Control the disposal of authorized solid waste to facilitate compliance with operating standards,

improve efficiency and productivity, require recycling and reuse of our resources, and maximize
the life of the Center; and

4. Establish permit procedures.

Agenda ltem #15.4

Page 79 of 99



The Crew Chief of the Center is authorized to promulgate additional regulations subject to the approval of
the Town Council which may include, but are not limited to, the following subjects:

1. Separation of solid wasles and other materials;
2. lnspectionprocedures;
3. Hours af operation; and
4. Establishing fees.

USE OF CENTER

It is mandatory, that residents, who use the facility to drop off material, will separate all designated
recyclable mateials from the solid waste stream and dispose of them in the approved recycling containers,
The reason for separation is to help control the cosfs assocrated with the disposal and management of
solid waste by diverting as many recyclables from the solid waste stream as possible. The listing of
acceptable materials will be available at the Recycling and Transfer Center, or online at www.hooksett.orq
under the Recycling and Transfer Deparlment.

Permit Required.
Permits will be issued for all residents Mro use the facility if the vehicle is registered in Hooksett.
Resldenfs who do not have a registered vehicle must show proof of resìdency in the way of a tax
bill or license with Hooksett address.

2. Removal of material
No material shall be removed from the Center without authorization

3. Designated Areas
Solid waste shall be disposed of only in the designated areas.

4. Unauthorized Entry
No person shall enter or attempt to enter the Center at times other than duing the posted
operating hours.

5. Acceptable Solid Waste
So/rd wasfe which is allowed to be received at the Center includes refuse, recycling, construct¡on
debris and demolition waste, motor vehicle waste, yard waste, residential brush, appliances, and
scrap metal. Not all Commercial solid wasfe rs acceptable, please call ahead for approval. User
fees mav applv. See websrTe at www.hooksett.orq or call facility at 603-669-5198.

1-a)Clean demolition, wood, sheetrock(kept separate), asphalt shingles (kept separate)

Zb)Fumiture

*c) Metal items and appliances will be accepted. Appliances with freon will be kept separately

4d)Yard Waste (grass clippings, garden waste, leaves and branches no larger than 3" in
diameter) must be brought to the designated area (compost pile). Yard waste brought in
plastic bags must be emptied. No brush clearing will be accepted.

åe)Some household hazardous wastes may be brought to the facility. Resdenfs need to contact
the facility to determine if it can be accepted.

6. Unacceptable Solid Waste
Materials which will not be accepted at the Center shall include, but not be limited to, the
following:

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 80 of 99



7=a)Hazardous waste. Hazardous wasie or material which the Town considers to be detrimental
to the operation of the Center or which require special handling or disposal procedures.

*b)Other. Infectious, pathological and biological waste, radioactive materials, oil sludges,
hazardous refuse of any kind, or other substances which are now or are hereafter considered
harmful, inflammable, hazardous, or tox¡c, or which would pose a threat to health or safety, or
which may cause damage to or adversely affect the operation of the Center.

3.c)Tires on rims.

7. Stumps and Logs. Also branches greater than three inches in diameter or three feet in length.

ENFORCEMENT
Use of Recycling and Transfer Facility

It is the tntention of the Depariment to educate residents as to the value of recycling and the appropriate
procedures for doing so. lf, however, a resident, tenant or Hooksett Commerc¡al Buslness violates any
provision of this section it may result in the issuance of not¡ces, wamings and possible loss of privileges at
the facility.

SEeHON+

The êenter is eperated and maintained in aeeerdanee with RSA 1'19 M:17 solely te reeeive; transportr
and dispese ef autherized selid waste generated within-thegeegraphieal bssndaries sf the Tewn,
These regulatiene have been reeemmended by the Reeyeling end Transfer Advisery

1'19 M:17, ll and 3r;39, l(f), These regslations are intended te:

1, Prevent unautherized entranee inte and/er use ef the eenter;

l, Pren¡O¡t tne A¡s

maN+mize+he-fife-ef+ €¡n+eç;-enC

+¡e-Sspe F+Crew ChiefCrew ChiefCrew Chle

tet+ne+e{ev¡ing-€uqe

1, Separatien ef selid wastes and ether materials;

@
sEcÏoN ilr
USE OF GENTER

@

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Page 81 of99



Agenda ltem #15.4.

ln the event the vehiele being used is net registered in Heeksett, paperwerk diselesing the residential
M

B, Remeval ef Material

lsecrro¡¡ w
RECYCLING

The policy of the Center is to promote and encourage recycling within the Town. The recycling program
is intended to facilitate the reuse of resources, reduce operating costs through avoidance of tipping fee
rates, and provide additional income to the Town (when applicable). Residents, who use the facility, will
be required to recycle cardboard. Cardboard is easily accepted in an area clearly marked. The recycling
of other materials is strongly encouraged.

sEefloN-v
W

Selid waste whieh ie allewed te be reeeived at-the Genter ineludes refuee' eenstruetion deþrie and

@

Yard waste (gras+ elippings; gaden waste' and leaves) must be bresght te the designat€d area
(eempost pile) and must be free frem branehes, Material bresght in plastie bags must þe emptied,

ins
1, Hazardeus Waste, Hazardoss waste er materialç whieh the ïewn eensiders te be detrimental te the

i+e

wsuld be lilcely te pese a threat te health er safety' erwhieh may eause damage te er-adversely a¡loef the
epeFatloffif-

Page 82 of 99



4, Stumps; tegs, Stumps and legs greater than three inehes in diameter er three feet in length'

SECTION VI
PERMIT PROCEDURES

l. A-ln General

Permits may be obtained during normal business hours at the Center, 210 West River Road, Hooksett,
New Hampshire. All permits shall be nontransferable. Each vehicle intended for transport of solid waste
to the Center must be perm¡tted.

Permits must be prominently displayed on the window of the passenger side of the vehicle, which is
bearing solid waste to be disposed of at the Center.

I 4 Residential.

I i Any person applying for a permit must present a vehicle registration showing residence in

the Town.

l. Permits are issued free of charge.

b) Commercial.

Any commercial entity must call the office for permission to enter the premises and have
proper identification of legal Hooksett address.

Permits will not be issued

Hooksett commerc¡al entities, may use the facility only to bring in solid waste that is
generated in Hooksett.

I

Agenda ltem #15.4.

il.

¡¡¡.

lz. Revocation of Permit

I fne Srperiot""a"*Crew Chief- may revoke the permit of any holder when a written finding is made that
the holder of the permit orthe holder's agent has violated any provisions of these

f regulations or any regulations promulgated hereunder. The Superin{endent9rew Chief will provide
written notice of the revocation to the holder of the permit by certified mail. Any person with such notice
of revocation may request a hearing before the Town Administrator within fifteen (15) days of the receipt
of such notice. The Town Administrator will affirm, reverse, or

I modify the action of the Supem+tendect9rew Chief. The revocation of the permit will be stayed during
the pendency of the appeal.

SECTION VII
VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES

Any person or commercial entity violating any provision of this ordinance or any regulation adopted
pursuant to this Ordinance shall:

I t. a-be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $3,000 for each act constituting a violation of this
Ordinance orthe regulations adopted pursuant hereto;

I z. b-be subject to revocation of permission to use the Center;

Page 83 of 99



I S. e--be liable for all costs incurred by the Town resulting from the violation and enforcement
of this Ordinance, including attorney's fees; and,

I 4. d-be liable for all costs of removal of solid waste improperly disposed of and all costs incurred by
the Town resulting from the improper disposal of waste at the Center.

l secroru vr¡
FEES

The following disposal fees (user fees) are designed to defray some of the expense incurred by the
Town in administering and operating the Center. This list-is nst-meanl ts be all inelusive and additisnal
iâf€{m€ti€,åfhe Town reserves the right to update fhese fees. Current Disposal Fees can be obtained by
calling the office at 603-669-5198 or checking the website at www.hooksett.orq. anA-e¡ee*+ng-unde+lhe
Recycling and Transfer-ÐepaÊmect Division page.

Metal, Fee assess È
Metal with refrigerants Gesident $11,00 lGernmereial $20,00)
@

Yard Waste, Fee asses
Resident $0 / Cemmereial $15

The followrng charges and restrictions are in effect as of 10/25/2019. For current disposa/ /ees, p/ease
check the Town's website at vww.hooksett.orq or call 603-669-5198.

Construction / Demolition Debris - $0.05 per pound. $2.00 minimum load. (wood, insulation, bathroom
fixtures, cabinets, siding, flooring, roofing , etc.) No asbesfos or hazardous mateial will be accepted.
V,NYL SIDING musf be kept separate under 4' in length. ASPHALT SHTNGLES must be kept
separate. SHEETROCK must be kept separate. Large plastic and fiberglass rúems must be cut up to
óe less than 4'x 4'.

Fill - $10 per load Concrete - Bricks - Asphalt - etc.

Furniture - $0.05 per pound All solid wood furniture - $0.05 per pound

Agenda ltem #15.4.

Twin/full mattresses
Queen mattresses
King mattresses
S/eep sofa
Loveseat

$3
$4(Ã

$7
$5.

00 a piece
00 a piece
00 a piece
00
00

Recliner
Stuffed Chair
Office Chair
Sofa

$5.00
s4.00
$2.00
$6.00

Carpet - 60.05 per pound. (Must be cut into 3-4' square secfions)

Metal - Units with FREON (refrigerators, freezers, NC's, dehumidifiers)
White goods (washers, dryers, dishwashers, sfoyes, hot water heaters)
No charge other metal

$11.00 per unit
$5.00 ier unit

Page 84 of 99



Electronics - $0.15 per pound (Electronics to include: copy machines, fax mach¡nes.)
Small computer drive $2.00 Personal printer $2.00
l3"computer monitor $5.00 Laptop $2.00
lT"coniputer monitor $7.00 1g'"fv $9.00
13'TV ' 84.00 All flat monitors under 20" $4.00
Call facility for other electronrb fees.

Propane Tanks - 20 lb., $4.00 each; 30 lb., $8.00; 100 lb, $20.00; 1 lb., no charge

Recycling - No charge.

Tlres - No charge for the first four tires per year per Hooksett registered vehicle, thereafter, a charge of
$2.00 for each tire. Must be off rims.

Yard Waste - No charge leaves, grass, small amounts of brush - a limb fell. Please call ahead for
availabilitv. Branches níust be nd tãEer'than 3" in diameter and 3'long. No land clearing, no tree cutting.
See attendant for list of place to go-with larger loads, sfu/r?ps, logs. INVASIVE PLANTS must be kept
separate. SEE ATTENDAIVL No sfumps will be accepted.

Paint - $1.00 per can; $5.00 per 5 gallon bucket.

Any tesident bringing material from outsÍde Hooksettwill have their permit revoked.

Agenda |tem #15.4.

Adopted:
Amended:
Amended:
Amended:

6t1'U97
3t10110
10t8t2014
Town Council Meet¡ng Date

James Sullivan
Town Council Chair

Todd Rainier
Town Clerk

Page 85 of 99



Page 86 of 99



1

2
3

4
5
6
7
8
I

10
11

12
'13

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31

32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41

42
43
44
45
46

Agenda ltem #16.1.

Town of Hooksett
Town Gouncil Meeting Minutes
Wednesday, February',2, 2020

The Hooksett Town Council met on Wednesday, February 12,2020 at 6:00 in the Hooksett Municipal
Building.

CALL TO ORDER
Chair Sullivan called the meeting of 12 Feb 2020 to order at 6:05 pm.

PROOF OF POSTING
Administrative Services Coordinator Donna Fitzpatrick provided proof of posting

ROLL CALL
In Attendance: Councilor James Sullivan, Councilor Robert Duhaime, Councilor John Durand,
Councilor James Levesque, Councilor Timothy Tsantoulis, Councilor Clark Karolian, and Councilor Alex
Walczyk

Missing: Councilor Avery Comai and Councilor Clifford Jones

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Chair Sullivan called for the Pledge of Allegiance

AGENDA OVERVIEW
Chair Sullivan: lf there is no objection, I would like to move New Business items 15.1 and 15.2 up for
consideration after the Scheduled Appointments for presentation of Eagle Scout pro¡ects. The Town
Engineer would like to present more information on Consent Agenda item 9.7, so I would ask that items
9.1 through 9.6 of the Consent Agenda be taken up first and that item 9.7 be handled separately.
Regarding Approval of Minutes, I want to present some clarification of the rules. Finally, the Town
Administrator will introduce guests during his report.

SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS
Charles Netson, Eagle Scout Project - Lambert Park Picnic Tables (see item 15.1 for details)

C. Nelson; My Eagle Scout project is to build three picnic tables for Lambert Park by the boat launch. I

will use pressure treated lumber and galvanized steel hardware. The estimated cost is $500.

Mr. Jeff Scott, Scout Master: The placement of the tables is up in the air at this time, pending a final
decision by Parks & Rec.

Chair Sullivan: lf the Pavilion passes, they may consider that location.

A. Walczyk: A question about the materials came up at the Parks & Rec meeting. Have you had an
opportunity to consider the use of TREX (vinyl board) instead of pressure treated wood?

Charles Nelson: lt would increase the price significantly

J. Scott: lt could triple the cost

TC MINUTES 02-12-2020

Page 87 of 99



47
48
49
50
51

52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61

62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81

82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91

92
93
94
95
96

Agenda ltem #16.1

T. Tsantoulis: TREX isn't as strong and doesn't last as long. I am not a huge fan of pressure treated
wood either.

Chair Sullivan: The tables would be protected under the Pavilion. There is more information in your
packets about this project.

R. Duhaime: I know that TREX sags in the heat.

J. Levesque: I assume you will be using bolts and screws, not nails.

C. Nelson: That is correct.

J. Levesque: Wll you use stainless or galvanized steel?

C. Nelson: I will use galvanized steel

Chair Sullivan: As the information in your packets indicates, the Parks & Recs Committee approved this
project on January 21,2020.

A. Garron: Regarding Eagle Scout projects in general, we assume they won't necessarily be replaced.
The Town accepts these gifts for the life of the items.

J. Scott: That is correct. The Town accepts the gifts and we have no claim.

R. Duhaime motioned for the town to approve of Scout Charles,Ve/son proceeding with the
project of constructing picnic tables to be placed at Lambeñ Park or other areas in town at the
discretion of the Parks and Recreation Department. C. Karolian seconded the motion.
Voted unanimously in favor (7-0).

Bennett Nelson, Eagle Scout Project - Trail Bridge Crossing (see item 15.2 for details)

B. Nelson: Thank you for having me tonight. My Eagle Scout project is a bridge on the Riverfront Trail.
There is a section of rotting planks. The Conservation Commission asked if a Scout might be willing to
undertake this project. A Scout is helpful, so I decided to do th¡s. I have been working with Mr. Bruce
Thomas, the Town Engineer, and another engineer in the troop.

Chair Sullivan: Bennett presented his project to the Conservation Commission at its December 9, 2019
meeting and received the Commission's approval at its February 10,2020 meeting.

T. Tsantoulis: Thank you for your project and for making yourself a better person by being a Scout.

R. Duhaime: This is a great trail. I am glad to see this park getting finished so that the residents can
enjoy it. Wllyou have a plaque?

J. Scott: Yes, we put small plaques on all Eagle Scout projects.

A. Garron: There was a question regarding wetlands. Was that resolved?

B. Nelson: I believe so. The Conservation Commission said they would take care of it.

2TC MINUTES 02-12-2020

Page 88 of 99



97
98
99

100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121

122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147

Agenda ltem #16.1.

B. Thomas: lt is being taken care of. There is no concern

J. Scott: These two Scouts are very competent.

T. Tsantoulis motioned for the Town to approve of Scout Bennet lVelson proceeding with the
construction of a temporary bridge for the Town trail system. A. Walczyk seconded the motion.
Voted unanimously in favor (7-0).

CONSENT AGENDA
A donation of three (3) wooden stools from Marc Miville, 42 Main Street, to the Town of Hooksett
for use at Town elections per RSA 31 :95-e ll.

Donation of a check in the amount of $250.00 from Thomas and Nancy Barrett to the Town of
Hooksett for the Family Services Department to benefit children and families in need through
the Hooksett Family Services Department per RSA 31:95-b, lll (b).

Donation of $100 from Hooksett Kiwanis to the Town of Hooksett for the Family Services
Department to create information cards pertaining to the Hooksett Community Food Pantry and
Kids Kloset for distribution by the Hooksett Police, Fire, and Rescue team per RSA 31 :95-b, lll
(b).

Monadnock Hall Landscaping Bond - SNHU

SNHU Parking Lot "F" Site Work Bond Release

Shooters Outpost Site Bond Release

Owen Marine Site Bond Reduction

R, Duhaime motioned to approve Consent Agenda items 9.1 through 9.6 as presented, setting
aside item 9.7 for fu¡ther discussion. T. Tsantoulis seconded the motion.
Voted unanimously in favor (7-0).

R. Duhaime: Can I assume that the landscaping work at Monadnock Hall has been inspected and is
satisfactory?

B. Thomas: Yes, that is correct.

R. Duhaíme motioned to approve the final Consent Agenda item, the Owen Marine site bond
reduction. T. Tsantoulis seconded the motion.

B. Thomas: I don't have a lot more information. I haven't been happy with this construction site, but I do
recommend that you reduce the bond. The contractor has had zoning violations for encroaching on the
wetlands buffer. There is lots of fill right up against Londonderry Turnpike. lt is a mess. He paved on
Dec 12th when there were ice chunks on the road. He said he added an extra inch of pavement. I have
asked that paving be done by November 1Sth. We will use his escrow money to test the pavement for
density. lf repairs are needed, it will all be at his cost. He is unorganized.

Chair Sullivan: Are you still holding $25,000?

B. Thomas: Yes.
TC MINUTES 02-12-2020 3

Page 89 of 99



148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171

172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197

Agenda ltem #16.1

T. Tsantoulis: I agree with what Mr. Thomas just said, but I disagree about giving back any money. I

don't like what he did at the site and the way that he disregarded the requests of Mr. Thomas.

B. Thomas: He didn't disregard me. He cleaned up the wetland buffer immediately. He is trying to work
with me, but he is unorganized and doesn't know proper construction techniques.

J. Levesque: Did he pave the base coat over the gravel?

B. Thomas: Yes, he did.

J. Levesque: What about a finish coat?

B. Thomas: That has not been done yet.

C. Karolian; Regarding the two zoning issues of encroachment on wetlands, is there possible Code
Enforcement Officer action regarding the zoning violations?

B. Thomas: I don't know what the enforcement would be. He did remove it immediately on the buffer. ln
another year it will probably grow back. Also, there is another site plan in the works, another project,
and the wetlands could be developed.

C. Karolian: So, part of the wetlands could be filled in? I assume they would need State permits.

B. Thomas: Yes. The developers are working on that.

R. Duhaime: I am glad that you came in because I have some concerns about this project. The State
doesn't allow paving below 45 degrees. You are right to test it. I assume you are willing to work with
him to make sure it is done correctly.

B. Thomas: Yes, I will be working closely with him. I will tell him about this big conversation with the
Town Council.

C. Karolian: Are the contractor and owner one and the same?

B. Thomas: Yes, Randy Owen is doing it himself. He should have hired a contractor a year ago. I do
not believe he is a bona fide contractor.

Chair Sullivan: Are we ready to vote on the motion which is on the floor?

D. Fitzpatrick; Do you want to amend the motion so that it is more specific, including the original
amount of the bond and the balance being retained?

R. Duhaime: I would like to amend my motion to say that the Town is reducing the bond requirement for
the Owen Marine Site from $41,367 to $25,000.

Chair Sullivan called for a vote on the motion

J. Durand, R. Duhaime and Chair Sullivan voted yea; J. Levesque, C. Karolian, A. Walczyk and T.

Tsantoulis voted nay.

TC MINUTES 02-12-2020 4

Page 90 of 99



198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247

Agenda ltem #16.1

The motion failed (34).

J. Levesque: A priority is to clarify the asphalt test.

B. Thomas: Yes, it is and I will do that.

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT
A. Garron: I have invited Brandon Kernen of the Hydrology and Conservation Division of NHDES to
provide the Council with an update on the well water sampling project. He was here in October of 2019
when the project was starting. Wth him is Thomas O'Donovan, the Director of the Water Division of
NHDES.

B. Kernan: I was last here at your October 9, 2019 meeting regarding additional analysis of private well
water because of very high levels of uranium in samples taken prior to a rock blasting project. This is in
southern Hooksett, and the uranium is probably naturally occurring. We have pulled together resources
and are testing 150 wells, double the number for the original plan. ln addition to uranium, the testing is
for metals, radon in water, and PFAS compounds. I have provided a map of the study area, a sample
one-page report and the supporting lab sheets. These tests, which typically cost $500 each, are being
done for free. ln 64% of the 55 completed tests, uranium exceeds the health limit, many by a lot. This is
a unique cluster. Radon, which is also naturally occurring, is also high. ln 17% of the wells tested,
PFAS, which is manmade, exceeded recommended safe levels for one of the four PFAS compounds.
There is lots of work to be done on PFAS compounds. Per State law, we must notify homeowners
within 500 feet of where exceedances of manmade contaminants are discovered, and we have done
that. There are 100 deaths per year in New Hampshire because of radon in the air. Because we have
doubled the size of the study, from 75 to 150 wells, we will not have the testing done until April, later
than the original plan of January. lt is taking the EPA longer to do the free analysis, given that they
must work this into their regular workload. Some lT challenges have slowed us down as well. We are
not including radon in the air in this study, but there is an inexpensive test that homeowners can do for
radon in the air. I am hoping that Hooksett can schedule a workshop for April. We would make a brief
general presentation and then have stations for specific questions. lf the DES has the resources, they
might expand the sampling efforts, as more work is needed in other areas. This might start in late
spring or early summer, after this project is complete. ln my one-page Town Council update, I have
suggested options for follow-up work in Section 7c. One suggestion is to provide direct outreach to
homeowners outside the current study area, strongly suggesting that they test their drinking water.
Another option is for town personnel and volunteers to complete testing in partnership with NHDES,
perhaps using paid contractors to complete the sampling or partnering with a private lab to obtain
discount pricing. These are just suggestions.

C. Karolian: Thank you for your presentation. There are two major blasting areas - one in my district
and another in district 5. Were any wells tested prior to blasting? I am referring to the area of Smyth
Road and Londonderry Turnpike and also Londonderry Turnpike and Auburn Road, across from JP
Noonan Trucking.

B. Kernan: The results are based on pre-blasting testing.

C. Karolian: Did they show elevated levels at that pre-blasting point?

B. Kernan: Yes, they did.

C. Karolian: Did the levels increase post-blasting?

5TC MINUTES 02-12-2020

Page 91 of99



248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298

B. Kernan: We haven't done the post-blasting testing of uranium, just of nitrates. I could send you the
reports. There is no reason to believe that uranium levels would change because of blasting.

C. Karolian: I am getting feedback from people. They say that there was no problem prior to the
blasting, but problems with nitrate, radon and uranium now. Nitrates could be from septic systems,
right?

B. Kernen: Yes, and from lawn fertilizer

C. Karolian: And explosives?

B. Kernen: Yes. ln the Prescott Heights Road area, there were two increases that didn't make sense.
They were isolated, and there was no way to connect them to the blasting site. Additional investigation
pointed to pool chemicals.

C. Karolian: What about Auburn Road?

B. Kernen: There was nothing significant.

C. Karolian: Can you rule out uranium and radon from blasting?

B. Kernen: Yes, and PFAS shouldn't be associated with blasting. We are trying to fìnd an ideal field
test.

R. Duhaime: Thank you for coming in tonight. The residents will want this information. Can they control
this and re-use their wells? There is an old house where the well is under the center of the house, so
the radon is coming up through the floorboards.

B. Kernen: They don't need a new water source. lnexpensive testing kits are available, as well as more
elaborate ones. lt is not unusual to find radon in private wells in New Hampshire. We need to educate
the residents.

T. Tsantoulis: Thank you for returning. How concerned should homeowners be at this point? Are there
any red flags?

B. Kernen: lt is about being informed more so than being concerned. All contamination is treatable at
the homeowner level. lt is not an emergency. They should educate themselves and take appropriate
action.

J. Durand: lf homeowners are testing high on uranium and radon, should they look at treatment on their
own?

B. Kernen. Yes. The State doesn't have a program for private wells.

Chair Sullivan: The NHDES has provided a letter to all homeowners in the area with a lot of information

B. Kernen: There is a long list of tools and links. They can email us.

R. Duhaime motioned to direct the Town Administrator to set a date in April for a workshop with
MDES regarding well water safety. C. Karolian seconded the motion.
Voted unanimously in favor.
TC MINUTES 02-12-2020 6

Agenda ltem #16.1.

Page 92 of 99



299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349

Agenda ltem #16.1.

J. Durand: Wll you have available the types of treatments and the companies providing these products
and services?

B. Kernen: We will give an overview and then residents can visit tables to address specifics. We will
send letters to the 150 homeowners in the study area. Anyone else is also welcome to attend.

Chair Sullivan: We can use the town website for a general invitation.

C. Karolian: Just to clarify, letters have been sent to those being tested, correct?

B. Kernen: Yes

C. Karolian: ls the water safe to drink now?

B. Kernen: On the report of test results which we distributed, anything highlighted in yellow represents a
health risk.

T. O'Donovan: To offer a deeper answer, there is an important exception: Pregnant women should
avoid arsenic while pregnant and in the first years of a child's life.

C. Karolian; I get phone calls from people. What do I tell them about the long term versus short term
risk? ls it five, ten, fifteen or twenty years? Common sense would tell me to put in a system. Bottled
water costs an arm and a leg. I need to ask this on behalf of the people I represent.

B. Kernen: lf there are exceedances, they should drink bottled water and put a reverse osmosis system
in their kitchen sink to cut off exposure.

T. O'Donovan: Existing health risks multiply the problems. This is poison. As an analogy, if your gas
tank is on E, how long do you wait to fill your tank? We do these workshops regularly, and one-on-one
counseling is available.

A. Walczyk: Thanks. lt is good to get this information. Will the workshop offer general information but
also specific data? Should individuals bring printouts or electronic versions of their reports? The
workshop is a great idea.

B. Kernen: We will have general information and then opportunities for one-on-one discussions about
specific situations. People who are already informed and taking action could skip the workshop.

T. Tsantoulis: I appreciate Mr. O'Donovan's comment regarding the red service light in your car. There
is personal responsibility involved.

T. O'Donovan: As the Water Director, I am responsible for all water sources and uses in the State. I

appreciate the concerns of your Town Engineer about protecting the wetlands and its buffer.

J. Levesque: Do you have data forthe west side of Route 93?

B. Kernen: Yes. I can get that to you.

TC MINUTES 02-12-2020 7

Page 93 of 99



350
351

352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391

392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400

C. Karolian: The reason I am asking these questions is that people are saying that prior to blasting
there were no issues, and now there are lots of issues and they are terrifÌed.

B. Kernen: We need to get the sheets of paper on the table. Uranium was not tested before, so the old
data does not show uranium levels.

C. Karolian: Why I have asked about pre and post blasting is because this is information that the
homeowners did not have before.

A. Garron: Thank you for your time and for cobbling together the funds for this testing. I know it is a big
prolect, and I certainly understand budget constraints. I appreciate this update for the Town Council.

T. O'Donovan: I worked on the water committee in my town prior to taking this position. I know that
others have sent thank you letters to the EPA lab for the free testing. Federal employees are often
underappreciated.

A. Garron: I would be happy to do that.

R. Duhaime: We have had our share of quarries - granite and sand. I remember the long-gone
hillsides. People used to have dug wells and they would lower a child into the well to claim a seam
during summer droughts. Things have changed. Water flow is a puzzle. Now the City of Manchester
has a large well in the Merrimack River, and they claim it has high quality water. We need to stick to
this and resolve it.

A. Garron: There was a question from the last meeting when we heard a TIF presentation. Mr. Karolian
asked whether or not water is included as an infrastructure item. I posed the question to the Town's
legal counsel and sent him the information from our last meeting. Article 2 was passed last year, and it
mentioned 'sewer and other infrastructure improvements.' Our legal counsel says that water can be
included as infrastructure. He said that warrant articles must be liberally construed, since the drafters
often don't express their intentions with precision. He said Article 2 seems to include water.

A. Garron: Also at the last meeting, there was a question about how a road is accepted in Hooksett.
This referenced Bernice Drive. The answer is that the Town Council would accept a road after the
Planning Board has reviewed and approved the road.

Chair Sullivan: So, it is still a paper street?

A. Garron: lt is not so much about a paper street. The town owns the right of way

A. Garron: Heating issues at the Court House were brought to my attention by the DPW. As it was a
dire situation, we ordered the replacement unit needed.

R. Duhaime: We don't want frozen pipes.

A. Garron: I met last week with HYAA as part of a continuing dialogue on the use of fìelds and sharing
the electric bills for lights. I have been meeting with Mark Chagnon since I first came to Hooksett last
May. We are working on a Memorandum of lntent on the issues of maintenance, scheduling and
security, as well as the donations and warranties. Chair Sullivan was there, which was very helpful. We
have donations such as picnic tables and lacrosse walls, and we need to clarify responsibility for
maintenance and define their useful lives. The HYAA has been very professional during the discussions
on these matters.

Agenda ltem #16.1.

8TC MINUTES 02-12-2020

Page 94 of 99



401
402
403
404
405
406

Chair Sullivan: lt was a very productive meeting.

R. Duhaime: Thank you for doing this. I understand that the DPW was there, along with the Finance
Director and Brian Soucy.

407 PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES

Marc Miville, 42 Main Street: The prlmary went extremely well; 4,731 votes were cast. At the
Deliberative Session, I had a fainting spell, and it was just a fainting spell because I was overheated. lt
was not a seizure. I spent several days in hospital and I am fìne now. lt was a pleasant surprise and a
joy to receive flowers from the town employees. Thank you. I was oven¡vhelmed by the support and
concern with which I was bombarded.

OLD BUSINES
Deliberative Session 02101 I 2020

416 Chair Sullivan: I am not sure why this item is on the agenda.

D. Fitzpatrick: lt is placed on the agenda every year in case further discussion is needed on anything.

C. Soucie: At the Deliberative Session, the citizens increased Article #5, the operating budget, by $SOO

for the Trustees of the Trust Funds stipend. There was also a question about adding information in the
Voters' Guide about Article #25, the citizen petition item. Do you want to start that precedent?

417

Agenda ltem #16.1.

408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415

418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446

T. Tsantoulis: lt is the responsibility of the voters to educate themselves. There are several sources of
information.

C. Karolian: I would add to that, we had the Deliberative Session. This article was supposed to be

drafted by the petitioner. We can't change that. The rest of the people should not be paying the Town

Attorney to help with the drafting of a warrant article. We should only be making a recommendation -
for or against.

Chair Sullivan: This is for the Voters' Guide, not the ballot. lt would only provide the number of private

hydrants.

R. Duhaime: I disagree about not providing additional information. We should provide anything we can

to inform and educate the voters. You should ask the petitioners. Maybe they are not aware that they
can put information in the guide.

A. Garron: Has the Council done this in the past?

R. Duhaime: lt has been a long time since we have had a petition warrant article.

Chair Sullivan: I don't think it has been done in the past.

A. Garron: What you say in the Voters' Guide might be misconstrued.

R. Duhaime motioned to indicate in the Voters' Guide that A¡ticle #25 would cover the rental
fees of 111 private residential fire hydrants. J. Durand seconded the motion.

TC MINUTES 02-12-2020 I

Page 95 of 99



447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456
457
458
459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473
474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496

C. Karolian: How do we know the number of hydrants? Who did the research?

C. Soucie: I did the research because the voters approved $48,000 last year, and I reached out to all
three of the water companies to determine the number of private residential hydrants.

C. Karolian: Does the number include future growth?

C. Soucie: No, it does not. lt is the number as of the beginning of this fiscal year

C. Karolian: This is a slippery slope. Why are we doing this now?

Chair Sullivan: We are doing this because there was a request at the Deliberative Session about
whether or not we could include information about a petition warrant article in the Voters' Guide.

T. Tsantoulis: As far as I am aware, the petitioners appear satisfied with the Deliberative Session. I call
the question.

Chair Sullivan: I will allow one last question because Mr. Karolian had his hand up.

C. Karolian: What is the purpose of adding the exact number óf hydrants if not to circumvent the
recommendation?

Chair Sullivan: We can discuss this issue in a future workshop

Chair Sullivan called for a roll call vote on the motion to include the number of private residential fire
hydrants in the Voters' Guide.

Roll Call Vote #2
R. Duhaime Aye
J Durand Nay
C. Jones Notpresent
J. Levesque Nay
A. Walczyk Nay
A. Comai Not present
C. Karolian Nay
T. Tsantoulis Nay
J. Sullivan Aye
The motion failed (2-5).

NEW BUSINESS
Quarterly Financial Report for December 31, 2019

C. Soucie: ln your agenda, beginning on page 39, is my unaudited financial report through the first half
of this fiscal year. Overall, the budget is looking good, both for revenue and operating expenses. As of
the end of December 2019, spending is at 49o/o. The Administration budget is 52o/o spent. The budget
includes encumbrances of about $60,000 for lT projects. I am watching the legal line, but I believe it will
be okay. Lower health insurance costs have helped. The Fire Department is down one firefighter and is
47Vo spenl. This department has high vehicle maintenance and overtime costs. The Police Department

TC MTNUTES 02-12-2020 10

Agenda ltem #16.1

Page 96 of 99



497
498
499
500
501
502
503
504
505
506
507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516
517
518
519
520
521
522
523

Agenda ltem #16.1.

is at 46% and will probably come in under budget. lt takes a long time to fill vacant positions in this
department. The Highway Department is 48% spent, with $265,000 left for roadwork. They have one
open position. Overtime for road maintenance includes a 46-hour storm in December resulting in

$22,000 for overtime and a 37-hour storm in January resulting in $15,000 in overtime expenses. The
use of salt increased because of these storms as well. The Recycling budget is always one month
behind because of tipping fees. This budget is doing well, considering the elimination of single-stream,
curbside pickup. Turning to revenue, overall revenue as of the end of December was at 58%, even
though that budget was increased. A lot of the items relate to the economy. Motor Vehicle revenue is at
49% collected, in spite of the fact that the revenue budget for motor vehicles was increased by
$600,000. lnterest and penalties on property taxes are al27% because most of this revenue is

collected in the Spring when liens are placed. Building permits are at 6'l %, even though this budget
was increased by $50,000. State revenue is 92o/o, and most of what Hooksett gets has already been
collected.

Chair Sullivan: What would happen if total expenses exceeded revenue in a year?

C. Soucie: That would reduce the fund balance by the amount of the exceedance.

C. Soucie: I report once a year on the Ambulance budget because it is on a calendar year budget. Calls
have been steady, increasing from 1,595 per year to 1,636 over three years. For Medicare patients,
Medicare only pays a fixed, allowed amount. ln 2019, rates were adjusted to the Medicare allowed
amount plus a percentage. Therefore, the Ambulance Service accumulates a large uncollected amount
which the Town Council writes off periodically. For this budget, expenses were high in 2017 because of
the purchase of a third ambulance. ln 2018, a third fire fighter was added and in 2019, Ambulance 2

was replaced. The balance at the end of 2019 was negative, but it returned to a positive balance in
January 2020.

524 1822-2022 Town of Hooksett, NH 200 Year Bicentennial Celebration

A. Garron: At our last meeting, it was determined that a committee should be established in anticipation
of the bicentennial. Two years go by quickly.

Chair Sullivan: This should be a citizens' committee, with representation from the Town Council.

Chair Suttivan motioned to establish a Bicentennial Committee to prepare for the 200th
anniversary of the town, including preparing a list of activities and a budget to which the Town
should consider making a contribution. R. Duhaime seconded the motion.

D. Fitzpatrick; Per RSA 91-A, if one or more Councilors sits on the committee, procedures for posting
meeting notices, agendas and minutes must be followed.

R. Duhaime: lwant a big celebration, with a parade and a big picture of all residents participating. Even
if I am not on the committee, I want to be involved.

A. Garron: Do you want to limit the size of the committee?

A. Walczyk: I don't think we need to limit it at this point.

T. Tsantoulis: Social media has made a big change over the last 25 years. There are lots of ways to be
involved, even for those who don't wish to sit through lots of meetings.

525
526
527
528
529
530
531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546

TC MINUTES 02-12-2020 11

Page 97 of 99



547
548
549
550
551

Agenda ltem #16.1.

Chair Sullivan called for a vote on the motion to establish a Bicentennial Committee.

Voted unanimously in favor.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Chair Sullivan: I fìrst want to refer to the rules of procedure regarding the approval of minutes which we
adopted on September 11 , 2019. According to Section 17 of those rules, corrections to the minutes
must be presented to the Council Secretary on or before the start of the meeting, with a copy for the
Town Administrator. We should be following that procedure. Mr. Karolian has submitted two corrections
for the January 8,2020 meeting, as he had stepped out during the approval of minutes.

C. Karolian motioned to strike "and that's all" from line 573 and to add the following: "J.
Levesque: We should stick to the rules. Talk twice then shut up!" Line 612 should read as
follows: "C. Karolian: ln response to an earlier comment hy another Councilor, if that Councilor
got involved instead of coming to meetings and taking up space...everyone here has the right to
get engaged and involved." Chair Sullivan seconded the motion.
Voted unanimously in favor (7-0).

Pubfic: 01l22l2O2O

T. Tsantoulis made a motion to approve the public minutes of January 22, 2020 as wrilten. A.
Walczyk seconded the motion.

C. Karolian: \|ühy is it that some of the roll call votes indicate at the end which Councilors voted nay and
sometimes not.

Chair Sullivan: There were two different transcribers involved. The minutes don't need to say who voted
nay when that is already recorded in the roll call.

Chair Sullivan called for a vote on the motion to approve the minutes of January 22,2020.

Voted unanimously in favor (6-0). J. Levesque abstained because he was not present at the
meeting.

Public: Special Meetinq 02/01/2020 12:10 pm

T. Tsantoulis motioned to approve the minutes of the February 1, 2020 Special Meeting as
written. J. Levesque seconded the motíon.
Voted unanimously in favor (7-0).

Non-Public: 01 12212020

T. Tsantoulis motioned to approve the non-public minutes of the January 22, 2020 meeting as
wrilten. J. Durand seconded the motion.
Voted unanimously in favor (6-0). J. Levesque ahstained hecause he was not present at the
meeting.

SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS

552
553
554
555
556
557
558
559
560
561
562
563
564
565

566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581

582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594

TC MINUTES 02-12-2020 12

Page 98 of 99



595
596
597
598
599
600
601
602
603
604
605
606
607
608
609
610
611
612
ô13
614
615
616
617
618
619
620
621
622
623
624
625
626
627
628
629
630

631

632
633
634
635

Agenda ltem #16.1

J. Durand: The HYA met just prior to this meeting and selected Youth Achievers for March and April
The February Youth Achiever will be joining the Town Council's February 26,2020 meeting for
recognition via FaceTime.

R. Duhaime: The Planning Board had to continue lots of items at their meeting, for various reasons, so
the next meeting will have a full agenda.

J. Levesque: I will present my report at the next meeting.

Chair Sullivan: The Heritage Commission will hold a public hearing on Wednesday, February 19,2020,
beginning at 6:30 pm on the demolition of the former home of Fred C. Underhill at 53 Martin's Ferry
Road. The building is circa 1900 and the Commission found at its last meeting that the building might
be of historical or architectural signifìcance, meeting three of the criteria for potential preservation. The
Heritage Commission also is reviewing a demolition permit for the old farmhouse on Whitehall Road
and Whitehall Terrace. The barn in the back is being saved. There are lots of old building in town which
the Heritage Commission looks at for preservation because we are losing a lot of old buildings. Also, a

committee will be established on the memorial portion of the Lilac Bridge. On Friday, March 6, 2020, an
Eagle Scout Court of Honor will be held at the Library at 5:00 pm for Alex Gannon. I hope that a
Councilor is able to attend that event.

T. Tsantoulis: I may be able to attend. I will let Ms. Fitzpatrick know

Chair Sullivan: On the EDC agenda for next Wednesday will be RSA 79-E, a property tax relief program
which encourages investment in town centers and rehabilitation of under-utilized buildings.

ADJOURNMENT
J. Levesque motioned to adjourn at 8:27 pm. C. Karolian seconded the motion.
Voted unanimously in favor (7-0).

Respectfully submitted,

Kathleen Donnelly
Recording Clerk

meet¡ m¡nutes for amendments to these misee s

TC MINUTES 02-12-2020 '13

Page 99 of 99




